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In t roduct ion  

This  in te rv iew with Jerome N .  Sonosky i s  one of a s e r i e s  of in te rv iews 

ca r r i ed  out wi th  key persons involved wi th  t h e  passage of t h e  Kefauver- 

Har r i s  Amendments of 1962 t o  t h e  Food and Drug Act. 

This  a c t  comprised t h e  most s i g n i f i c a n t  a l t e r a t i o n  of t h e  Food and 

Drug Act s i n c e  t h e  1930's. I n  p a r t  t h e  amendments t ightened  pre-market 

c learance  of p r e s c r i p t i o n  drugs by adding t h e  requirement t h a t  drugs had 

t o  be proven e f f e c t i v e ,  a s  wel l  as  s a f e ,  f o r  t h e i r  intended purposes. Among 

o t h e r  th ings  t h e  a c t  a l s o  attempted t o  c o r r e c t  a d v e r t i s i n g  abuses,  t i g h t e n  

l abe l ing  requirements and broaden inspec t ion  powers of the  Food and Drug 

Administration. 

The passage of t h e  a c t  was preceded by an ex tens ive  i n v e s t i g a t i o n  

i n t o  t h e  economics of t h e  e t h i c a l  drug indus t ry  under t h e  guidance of Senator 

EsCes Kefauver 's A n t i t r u s t  and Monopoly Subcormittee. Senator  Kefauver 's 

main l e g i s l a t i v e  goal  had been t o  reduce p r e s c r i p t i o n  drug p r i c e s  by infus ing  

g r e a t e r  competition i n t o  what he f e l t  was a  market dominated by a r e l a t i v e l y  

small  group of l a r g e  manufacturers. He intended t o  do t h i s  through a s e r i e s  

of r egu la t ions  t h e  most con t rove r s i a l  of which involved a l t e r a t i o n  of the  

pa tent  laws a s  they per ta ined  t o  p resc r ip t ion  drugs. Host of h i s  p r i c ing  

amendments were de le t ed  f r o n  t h e  law before  passage. Indeed t h e r e  probably 

would have been no l e g i s l a t i o n  enacted a t  a l l  except f o r  t h e  thalidomide 

tragedy which spurred Congress t o  ac t ion .  

J e r r y  Sonosky, t h e  sub jec t  of t h i s  in te rv iew,  was a  key p a r t i c i p a n t  i n  

the  passage of t h e  Kefauver-Harris Amendments. A s  s p e c i a l  a s s i s t a n t  t o  

Wilbur J. Cohen, Ass;stant Comiss ioner  f o r  L e g i s l a t i o n  i n  t h e  Department 

Of Heal th,  Education, and Welfare, Sonosky was a c t i v e  i n  formulat ing HEN 

Policy pos i t i ons  i n  regard t o  the  Kefauver b i l l .  



Sonosky's jackground had prepared him w e l l  f o r  h i s  l i a i s o n  r o l e  

wi th in  HEW. Af ter  graduat ing from the  Univers i ty  of Piinnesota i n  1952 

and t h e  completLon of  Georgetown Law School, Sonosky went t o  work f o r  

Congressman John B la tn ik  i n  1954. On Bla tn ik ' s  s t a f f ,  Sonosky gained 

f i r s t  hand experience wi th  p o l l u t i o n  problems a s  w e l l  as  abuses concerning 

t h e  advertisement of t r a n q u i l i z e r s .  With t h e  r e t u r n  of t h e  Democrats t o  

power i n  1960, Sonosky found a p lace  i n  HEW working wi th  both Vilbur  Cohen 

and t h e  Sec re t a ry ,  A-braham Ribicof f .  I n  t h i s  capac i ty  Sonosky quickly  

found himself embroiled i n  t r a n s a c t i o n s  involv ing  t h e  Kefauver l e g i s l a t i o n .  

Sonosky l a t e r  joined PLbicoff ' s  s e n a t o r i a l  s t a f f  a f t e r  t h e  former s e c r e t a r y  

was e l e c t e d  t o  t h a t  l e g i s l a t i v e  body. X r .  Sonosky is now assoc ia t ed  with 

t h e  law f i r m  of Hogan & Hartson, Washington, D.C.  

This  o r a l  h i s t o r y  t r a n s c r i p t  i s  derived from a tape-recorded in terv iew 

of approxinately two and one h a l f  hours he ld  wi th  X r .  Sonosky i n  h i s  law 

o f f i c e s  i n  Washington on February 28,  1974. :<r. Sonosky was a most coopera-

t i v e  and e n t h u s i a s t i c  s u b j e c t .  H i s  answers were d e t a i l e d  and s p i r i t e d .  I n  

e d i t i n g  t h e  t r a n s c r i p t ,  Mr. Sonosky made only minor changes. 

Richard E .  McFadyen, Ph.D. 
Hi s to ry  Department 
Un ive r s i ty  of Xorth Carol ina 
a t  Greensboro 



n: This i s  Richard McFadyen. Today i s  February t h e  28 th ,  Thursday. This  

is an in terv iew wi th  Mr. Jerome Sonosky. W e  a r s  now i n  Washington, D.C .  To 

of g e t  u s  s t a r t e d ,  I wanted t o  ask you j u s t  a l i t t l e  b i t  about your back- 

ground--leading up t o  how you got  i n t o  t h i s  p o s i t i o n  i n  HEW working wi th  Cohen. 

S: I came t o  Washington a f t e r  graduating from Zie Cn ive r s i ty  of M i ~ e s o t a  i n  

1952 t o  a t t end  law school--went t o  Georgetown L i 7  School a t  n i g h t  and worked 

as  a c l e r k  i n  t h e  Tax Division of t h e  J u s t i c e  De?artment. I n  December 1954 

went t o  work f o r  Congressman John Bla tn ik  who c z s  t h e n  Chairman of t h e  Rivers  

and Harbors Subcommittee t h a t  had j u r i s d i c t i o n  c-rer i i a t e r  p o l l u t i o n .  (You' l l  

s ee  how t h a t  r e l a t e s  l a t e r . )  How did  t h a t  happel?  - - I 'm from Bla tn ik ' s  home 

town, a f r i e n d  of t h e  fami ly ,  e t c e t e r a ,  e tce terz- -he  knew m e  a s  a k i d  growing 

up and i t  was a n a t u r a l .  I was here i n  Washingrsn; I was a c t i v e  i n  p o l i t i c s  

a t  home from t h e  time I can remember; he had a opening f o r  a l e g i s l a t i v e  

a s s i s t a n t ;  I went t o  work. That was r e a l l y  wh:i I c a e  t o  Washington i n  t h e  

f i r s t  place--that was r e a l l y  my ---that was -Ast I wanted t o  do. The Blatn 

experience:  e a r l y  i n  t h e  B la tn ik  experience, we got  i n t o  water  po l lu t ion .  And 

t h a t  continued. We became t h e  granddaddies of--;-ell, now, t h e  f a t h e r s  of t h e  

modern water  p o l l u t i o n  c o n t r o l  act--(You got  2 s l i ?  i n  t h e  t ape  the re? )  

M: 411 r i g h t .  ~ e t ' s  continue on--

S: A l l  r i g h t .  Then--then--jumping ahead--that ijork continued. That b i l l  

Passed i n  '56 and then we continued working on i r ,  improving i t .  By 1960, i n  

the campaign, we were p r e t t y  wel l  known as  t h e ,  :iou know, t h e  ' ' po l lu t ion  guys! 

I was doing work f o r  t h e  n a t i o n a l  committee--wrL:ing s t a f f  papers ,  writing--wh 

d id  they used t o  c a l l  them?--position papers f o r  Kennedy on water  p o l l u t i o n ,  



airp o l l u t i o n ,  radiation--God knows what e l s e .  And then  the  Democrats win 

in 1960, I wrote a l e t t e r  t o  Wilbur Cohen--who d i d n ' t  know me from a ho le  i n  

the  wall--saying I want t o  go t o  work f o r  =--'cause, you s e e ,  I knew t h a t  

agency--HEW handled water po l lu t ion .  I knew exac t ly  where I wanted t o  go and 

what I wanted t o  do. I wanted t o  be ohe en's s p e c i a l  a s s i s t a n t .  And I espec ia l1  

wanted t o  work t h e r e  because Abe Ribicoff was Secre tary .  It  was kind of l i k e  a 

boyhood dream t o  go t o  work f o r  him. I ' d  admired him very much from afar--from 

Northern x innesota  t o  ~onnec t i cu t - - fo r  my own personal  reasons.  Well, t h a t ' s  

how I came t o  work f o r  Cohen, i f  we want t o  fol low your o u t l i n e .  I had t h a t  

background i n  p o l l u t i o n  con t ro l  law and t h e r e  weren ' t  many lawyers i n  those  

days who had t h a t  kind of background. And Cohen and Ribicoff  were looking f o r  

a p o l i t i c a l - t y p e  lawyer with a background i n  environmental work. Drugs r e a l l y  

hadn' t  en tered  i n t o  it a t  t h a t  point--you know--food and drug hadn't--but--but-- 

the  g e n e r a l  type guy who was i n t e r e s t e d  i n  pub l i c  h e a l t h  r egu la to ry  l a w - t h a t ' s  

what they were looking f o r  and t h e r e  I--you know--there I--was, and a l s o  a c t i v e  

i n  p o l i t i c s .  That was a r a r e  b i r d  i n  those days. (X: Right.)  And t h a t ' s  how 

it came t o  be and as  f a r  as  r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s - - I  went t o  work f o r  h i n  i n  May of 

' 61  and my--you know--I cane t o  work on l i k e  a Honday morning, checked i n ,  s a i d  

' H i , '  and he s a i d  'Go up on t h e  H i l l .  here's a hear ing  on t h e  water po l lu t ion  

b ' And those were my i n i t i a l  and immediate r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s  s t a r t i n g  from 

!lay of '61--water pol lut ion-- that  was i t .  Now, g e t t i n g  do:m t o  poin t  3 i n  

Your o u t l i n e ,  b7e worked on t h a t  cont inual ly ,  you know, t h e r e  was j u s t  nothing 

else-- l ike I t ransfer red- - I  was doing the  same work I was doing on the  H i l l  

I was doing i t  f o r  HEW r a t h e r  than f o r  B la tn ik .  And a s  I r e c a l l ,  t h a t  

passed l i k e  i n  A U ~ U S ~ - - J U ~ ~ / A U ~ U S ~'61 and now i t  became a question--okay, 

"OW what do you do? And t h a t ' s  when I was assigned t o  food and drug l e g i s l a t i c  

(': u g h t . )  But t h a t ' s  when I got i n  t o  t h e  food and drug bill--what we cal lec 

the Food and Drug B i l l .  



1 :  hat's r i g h t .  Could we s t o p  here j u s t  a minute. 

M: Yeh--&--I have a s e t  of quest ions h e r e ,  a s  you know. But f o r  the  l i s t e n e r  

t h e  t ape  maybe 	I ' d  b e t t e r  ask them s o  t h e  people w i l l  know what ques t ion  

r e  a n s w e r i ~ g. 

S: Okay. Sure. 

?I: 	 And a l s o ,  anytime you want t o  go off on a d i r e c t i o n  t h a t  I haven ' t  i nd ica t ed ,  

'cause obviously-- 

S: You got  i t  ? r e t t y  good here.  

M: Good. 

S: Yeh. 

X: Yeh. Okay. I th ink  t h a t ' s  laced us p r e t t y  w e l l  i n  terms of what you 

were--how you got  t he re  i n  SEW--and what your r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s  were. 

S: I was Specia l  Ass is tan t  t o  the  Ass is tan t  Sec re t a ry  f o r  Leg i s l a t ion .  

M: A l l  r i g h t .  

S: That was my o f f i c i a l  h a t .  xy = o f f i c i a l  h a t  was--at t h e  same time, I was 

like--in t h a t  period of t ime,  between Hay '61 and Septenber '61, Ribicoff 

asked me t o  be s o r t  of l i k e  h i s  personal  aide--okay? So I was like--he had an 

Executive Assistant--so I was l i k e  t h e  " s u b s t i t u t e  Executive Assis tant ' !  t o  t h e  

Secretary--when h i s  Executive Ass is tan t  was out  of town o r  on s i c k  leave  o r  

"Onething l i k e  t h a t ,  I would si t  i n  t h a t  chair--working d i r e c t l y  f o r  the  

processing mail ,  handling congressional  s t u f f ,  uh--uh--YOU know, 



personal  a ide  t o  t h e  Secre tary  as  opposed t o  a s p e c i f i c  l e g i s l a t i v e  r o l e  i n  

t h e  Ass i s t an t  Sec re t a ry ' s  o f f i c e .  It  was like--a--

M: So you had a  p r e t t y  c lose  working r e l a t i o n s h i p  wi th  both Ribicoff and Cohen. 

S: Yeh. 

M: I should say  Cohen and Ribicoff .  

S: Not p r e t t y  close--

M: So you knew what Ribicoff was thinking about--say--the Kefauver b i l l  and-- 

S: Yeh. 

M: Maybe we can  g e t  what we--we c e r t a i n l y  g e t  t o  t h a t  i n  j u s t  a  minute. 

S: Yeh. That would be something I would tend t o  f o r g e t .  No one knew i n  t h e  

Department which h a t  I had on when I would say  ' I  want t o  s e e  you.' 

M: M-huh. I see .  

S: So when I ' d  c a l l  and say 'Do you want to- -sha l l  we t a l k  about this1--they 

d i d n ' t  know i f  I was c a l l i n g  a s  t h e  Sec re t a ry ' s  a i d e  i f  I was c a l l i n g  as  

Specia l  Ass i s t an t  t o  Cohen. 

PI: Right.  

S: And one th ing  about Cohen--as R ib ico f f ' s  aide--so I ' d  j u s t  s t a r t  off  my 

conversat ion wi th  h he Secre tary  wanted--' (hah-hah) (X: Hah! With a l l  kinds 

of r e s u l t s !  Hah!) 

)I: Were you aware of t h e  Kefauver hearings? 

S: Oh, my God yes! My God: Was I aware of the  Kefauve e? Aware--geez! 



I n  1957--1 do laugh sometimes because some of t h e  guys--some ofhearings! 

the guys who've heard t h i s  s t o r y  say 'no, no'--when you ge t  a l l  through-- 

'sonosky claims t h a t  he  was r e a l l y  t h e r e  a t  t h e  dawn of c rea t ion , "  you know. 

TO which I always say--'Bad I been, th ings  would be b e t t e r  than they a r e  now! ' 

- - ~ i k e  King Alphonso, I th ink ,  once s a i d  t h a t .  I n  1956--blump!--1957-5%- 

~ l ~ t n i k - - w h oI mentioned (M: That ' s  right--he was a--) i s  a l s o  chairman of a 

subcommittee of t h e  House Government Operations Committee called--you wouldn't 

be l ieve  it!--Legal and Monetary Af fa i r s  Subcommittee. Legal and Honetary Af fa i r s  

had j u r i s d i c t i o n  over everything.  FCC, FTC, FDA--unbelievable! J u s t  had i t  

over everything! General ove r s igh t ,  e f f i c i e n c y  and economy, t h a t  s o r t  of th ing .  

Well, e f f i c i e n c y  and economy was t h e  most boring Eamned th ing  you'd wanta do 

and the Government Operat ions Committees up t o  thaf po in t  i n  time had been i n  

the doldrums. They were j u s t  a no th ing  committee--you know--something f o r  

what's-his-name from Chicago t o  have a huge staff--you know--and they could 

always say  we have one b lack  chairman--that was be fo re  Adam Clayton Powell. 

Government Operations Corni t tees  never did anything. Bla tn ik  becomes chairman, 

and Bla tn ik  i s  a doer--very a c t i v e ,  you know, an a c t i v i s t  i n  whatever he 

does. B la tn ik  s a i d  'With t h a t  j u r i s d i c t i o n  we can r e a l l y  r o l l ! '  So he takes  

the s t a f f  i n h e r i t e d  from Monihan of West Virginia--and these  guys a r e  dyinR t o  

do something. They're  a l l  b r i g h t ,  good men and h e r e  comes an a c t i v i s t  chairman 

Who Says 'Le t ' s  do something--what can we do? '  ~oom!  They j u s t  s t a r t  f l y i n g  

Out a l l  s o r t s  of ideas .  But Bla tn ik  says 'Well, I ' l l  t e l l  you what I ' m  

interested i n . '  Bla tn ik ' s  background--everybody thought of B la tn ik  a s  a 

na tu ra l  resource guy s o  water p o l l u t i o n  j u s t  f i t  i n t o  everything.  But B la tn ik  

was a s c i e n t i s t  a t  h e a r t .  Bla tn ik  was the  kind of guy who, had times been r i g h  

and he weren ' t  born i n  Northern l l innesota during t h e  Depression o r  grew up the-  

'Was born then and he grew up then--he would have been a doctor--he would have 

been a s c i e n t i s t  of some kind. He ended up a s  a school  teacher--as a teacher  o 



mathenat ics  i n  a  l o c a l  high school  before  he  went t o  Congress--before he got  

i n t o  p o l i t i c s .  But had t imes been r i g h t ,  John would have been a s c i e n t i s t - -

f a s c i n a t e d  by it--is t o  t h i s  day. These were i n  t h e  e a r l y  days of t r a n q u i l i z e r s  

John had--had many f r i e n d s  i n  t h e  medical profession-- in t h e  s c i e n t i f i c  world. 

There  was some concern s t a r t i n g  even then about  t h e  misuse--those were t h e  

days when ?liltowns were being given out l i k e  a s p i r i n  (M: r i g h t ) .  I_ remember--

I can remember even being nervous before I took t h e  Bar and t e l l i n g  the doctor  

t h a t  and he gave me Miltobm--I d i d n ' t  know what t h e  h e l l  I was on! You know, i f  

I ' d  s tayed  wi th  t h a t  I never  would have been a  lawyer! You know--I was f l y i n g  

o f f  somewhere on Miltown because I s a i d  I was--of course I was nervous--I was 

about t o  take t h e  Bar! You know! Bla tn ik  says t h a t  he is i n t e r e s t e d  i n  

t h i s  problem--okay--that's f i n e .  Bla tn ik  a l s o  smoked and he knew, as  a r a t iona l  

human be ing  t h a t  smoking is not  good f o r  him. Okay? So, t h e r e  came another  

i d e a  because a t  t h a t  poin t  i n  time t h e  f i l t e r - t i p  c i g a r e t t e  adve r t i s ing  

becane very b i g .  Well, t o  back up, what t h e  s t a f f  recommended i s  t h a t  they go 

i n t o  a d v e r t i s i n g  a s  an overs ight  funct ion .  So B l a t n i k ' s  main--f i rs t -- interest  

was f i l r e r - t i p  c i g a r e t t e  adve r t i s ing .  Another i n t e r e s t  was t r a n q u i l i z e r  drug 

adve r t i s ing .  Another i n t e r e s t  was d e n t i f i c e  advertising--you see--ah--I t h ink  

what you ' re  goicg t o  g e t  a l l  the  way through h e r e  i s  how I personal ize  things 

s o  t h a t  i f  you eve r  teach  t h i s  s t u f f ,  l e t  these  k i d s  know and t h e  ones coming 

behind us t h a t  t hese  th ings  j u s t  don' t  happen i n  a  vacuum. It t akes  a  human 

f l e s h  and blood person t o  (M: people to--) t o  say  'I th ink  t h e r e ' s  a problem.' 

The problem doesn ' t  e x i s t  i n  a  vacuum. Here you go t  a guy who was concerned 

about c i g a r e t t e s ,  concerned about cancer,  concerned about--about adve r t i s ing  

and l ead ing  people a s t r a y .  Here was a  guy who was concerned about the  misuse 

of t h i s  new type drug--concerned about d e n t i f i c e s  t h a t  were being touted off  

on k i d s  f o r  no good reason--you know--all--all of this-ah--oh--concerned about 

weight reducers  (M: Yeh. I remember tha t . )  Sure.  We got  i n t o  t h a t  and I s a t  



s o r t  of--I t h ink  some of those o ld  committees--the way i t  works on t h e  H i l l - -

a t  t h a t  p o i n t ,  I ge t  t r a n s f e r r e d  from B l a t n i k ' s  personal  s t a f f  t o  the  sub- 

committee s t a f f .  Now t h e  reason you do t h a t  i s  then  I can  g e t  pa id  more money. 

Okay? Tha t ' s  t h e  way i t  works on t h e  H i l l .  Tha t ' s  why people want t o  be 

subcommittee chairmen. You pay me more money and then my s l o t  i s  emptied i n  

~ l a t n i k ' s  o f f i c e  and then you can br ing  i n  a g i r l  s e c r e t a r y  who can type t h e  

l e t t e r s  t h a t  I ' m  writing--okay? But I never leave B l a t n i k ' s  o f f i c e  physical ly--  

I s i t  r i g h t  t h e r e  and I run water  p o l l u t i o n  f o r  t h e  House P u b l i c  Works Committet 

and I work i n  t h i s  a rea .  But not  as  c lose ly  a s  I was i n t o  water  p o l l u t i o n  

because t h a t  was bigger--that t o  me was r e a l l y  big--and it was. Water p o l l u t i o ~  

took my i n t e r e s t .  But I kept  t abs  fo r  Bla tn ik .  I was s o r t  of t h e  l i a i s o n  

between B la tn ik  and t h a t  s u b c o m i t t e e  s t a f f  on f i l t e r - t i p  c i g a r e t t e s ,  t r anqu i l -  

i z e r s ,  e t c .  Okay? The comnittee i s  abolished i n  1958 because we stepped on 

too many toes--because B la tn ik  stepped on too  nany toes .  The committee's 

abol ished.  You s e e ,  i t  -d i d  what you're  not  supposed t o  do i n  c e r t a i n  in s t ances  

i n  Washington--Lt succeeded--yeah--ylknow, i t  made t h e  t e r r i b l e  mistake-- 

Bla tn ik  was a c t u a l l y  doing somethins wi th  t h e  Government Operat ions Committee. 

Nobody'd ever  done t h a t  before.  

X: Now, I t h i n k  t h e r e ' s  no doubt t h a t  B l a t n i k ' s  i n v e s t i g a t i o n  had a l o t  t o  do 

with Kefauver picking u? on it--

S:  Now wait! I ' m  g e t t i n g  t o  t h a t !  I can remenber a  phone c a l l  from Kefauver 

s t a f f  about t h i s .  And remember, John and Kefauver were c lose  personal  

friends--very c lose .  

M: John B la tn ik  and--? 

S :  John Bla tn ik .  Yeah. I don ' t  th ink  I ' v e  ever  pointed t h a t  out .  They wen 

very c lose .  They were t h e  same kind of P o p u l i s t  l i b e r a l .  



5 :  A J . ~  r i g h t .  

he from Tennessee; one from Xinnesota. It d i d n ' t  nake any d i f f e rence .  S :  

Are they about t h e  same age? I don't--I don' t - -

S :  NO.  Ref auver was o lde r .  

M: H U C ~o lde r .  

S: Yeah. Yeah. 'Cause Bla tn ik  i s  s n o w  62.  

M: All r i g h t .  

S: Yeah. So Kefauver was o lder .  

?i: A good t e n  yea r s  o lde r .  

S: Yeah. .And--but they were t h e  =mold. They were t h e  same Popul i s t  

l i b e r a l  who j u s t  couldn ' t  stand seeing people being taken.  akay? 

M: Right. 

S: So I don ' t  renember i f  i t  was a  phone c a l l  from t h e  s t a f f - - l i k e  from John 

Blair--or i f  i t  was Kefauver himself who c a l l e d  B la tn ik .  And t h a t  doesn ' t  

make any d i f f e rence  because i t ' s  one and t h e  same. And I renexber the  t r a n q u i l -  

i z e r  drug E i l e s  be ing  shipped over t o  the  Kefauver staff--1959. I can renenber 

that .  I got  (X: t h a t ' s  i n t e r e s t i n g )  Yeah--I got--(?[: t h a t ' s  i n t e r e s t i n g ) ,  Oka: 

Because we p ick  t h a t  p a r t  of the  s t o r y  up la te r - -as  H a r r i s  p o i n t s  out  i n  h i s  

book (x: r i g h t ) .  Because B la tn ik ' s  r o l e  a s  a former--as t h e  first i n v e s t i g a t o r  

becomes c r i t i c a l  a t  t h e  end (M:  r igh t ) - -a t  t h e  end. One of Sonosky's s t rokes  

Of genius ! 

The po in t  I ' m  t r y i n g  t o  ge t  a t  is--is--a--not only what you-- 



Tfiat I did--what I had. This i s  very i n t e r e s t i n g  because when Cohen and S :  

~ b i c o f fwere h i r i n g  me, t h a t  aspect  of my background and experience i n  my 

careernever en tered  i n t o  it .  

That I had kind of never  r ea l ly - - i t  was a phase I s o r t  of f o r g o t ,  I wasS :  

so = w a t e r  p o l l u t i o n .  That i t  suddenly dawned on --and Wilbur--'Hey, me I 

r e a l l y  have a background i n  this-- that  I had f o r g o t t e n  a l l  about!' (M: Right.) 

L i t e r a l l y .  (M: Right. ) And t h e r e  you a r e .  

M: Yeah. The po in t  I was t r y i n g  t o  s o r t  of g e t  a t  is--what d i d  Cohen and 

Ribicoff t h i n k  of t h e  Kefauver hearings? Not t h e  -b i l l ,  bu t  t h e  hear ings?  

Unh--it was q u i t e  conceivable they never s a i d  anything about i t .  

S: Well, by t h e  *we came i n t o  it--by t h e  awe got  t h e r e ,  which i s  ' 6 1 ,  

the hearings had--the i n i t i a l  hearings--had run t h e i r  course. (?I: Right.)  And 

they had done t he i r - - I  was going t o  use t h e  word typical--and I d i d n ' t  want t o  

be misunderstood--they had done their--they had f i n i s h e d  t h e i r  "phase I." 

Kefauver and Blair--and I g ive  c r e d i t  t o  Blair--Blair  invented t h e  technique of 

the  2-phase hear ings .  F i r s t ,  t h e  educat ional  hearing--the s tudy hearing.  

(M: Okay.) --Finding out  where the  problem i s ,  i f  t h e r e  & one. Okay. Then 

You w r i t e  a r epor t  on t h a t  and on t h e  b a s i s  of t h a t  r e p o r t  you prepare l e g i s -  

l a t i o n - - ~ ~ ~  Then you s t a r t  hea r ings  the  b i l l .  in t roduce  t h e  l e g i s l a t i o n .  on 

And t h a t ' s  n o t  t h e  u s u a l  pa t t e rn?  I mean--that's i n t e r e s t i n g .  

No. Usually we s t a r t  o f f  with a b i l l  and we have hear ings  on a billand 

a l l  deadly and d u l l  and nobody ever  l e a r n s  anything and you end UP with 

the crappy l e g i s l a t i o n  t h a t  you s e e  out  on t h e  s t r e e t  now. 



-- 

::: Tha t ' s  very i n t e r e s t i n g .  

S:  John B l a i r  f i gu red  out-- No. I n  o rde r  t o  l e g i s l a t e ,  educate yourself  

f i r s t .  =become t h e  exper t .  Then l e g i s l a t e .  So t h a t  when t h e  exper ts  

cone t o  tell  you what 's  wrong wi th  your b i l l ,  you know as  much a s  they do-- 

aaaand more! 

! I f  t h e  exper ts  w i l l  recognize t h a t .  

S :  And =--which t h e  exper ts  never do! (11: chuckle) --'Cause how could a 

s i q l e  g e n e r a l i s t ,  economist, know that? You know. But w e ' l l  end up before  

t h i s  conversat ion i s  over with me c r i t i c i z i n e  B l a i r  f o r  just t h a t  reason.  

(Y: r i g h t )  Okay. (M: But t h a t ' s  i n t e r e s t i n g . )  Okay. So by t h e  time w e  come 

i n t o  i t ,  t h e  f i r s t  phase of t h e  Kefauver hea r ings  a r e  over and h e ' s  r e a l l y  

j u s t  g e t t i n g  & t o  Phase 11. He's introduced S1552 dragging--you--know--let 

t h e  record show t h a t  Sonosky l i f t e d  up h i s  eyes t o  remenber t h e  number of t h e  

bill--huh?--was i t  1552? (H: That 's  r i g h t . )  He r e a l l y  j u s t  introduced i t .  

And now, he was s t a r t i n g  off  again. Okay? (3 :  Right . )  So we fo l low those 

hearings--HEW, as a  mat te r  of course,  fol low those  hear ings  c lose ly .  But, 

do you t h i n k  t h a t  Abe Ribicoff and J e r r y  Sonosky and Wilbur Cohen a r e  s i t t i n o ,  

around--you know--at high noon and i n  t h e  North Su i ld ing  of HEW and saying 'I 

t h i n k  we're going t o  t a l k  about t h e  Kefauver hea r ings  now!' No! (M: chuckle) 

You know! (M: 'Course not!) By September '61  and--you know--sometimes I ' m  

gonna f l i p  out  dates--sometimes I ' m  gonna f l i p  o u t  d a t e s  you couldn't--= may 

f i n d  i n  your own research  t h a t  I was wrong on dates--don' t - - that 's  j u s t  my bad 

ne3oi-y a t  work. Okay? That ' s  a  t r i c k  my menory's playing.  September '61--

unh-unh--August--geez--.Tuly/August '61--okay? Now t h e  hea t  is coming on. 

Kefauver is saying t o  Rib icoff ,  'I want you t o  t e s t i f y ,  Abe.' Right? (>I:r ig1 

xow, we're i n t o  i t .  Now we're r e a l l y  i n t o  i t .  Kefauver i s  p u t t i n g  on the  pre! 



and 'I want you to endorse my bill.' 


M: Do you mean this figuratively or is he actually calling Ribicoff and saying- 


S: He's calling the White House. He's calling everybody. ( M : yeah) Ohh--he's 

calling everybody--he's calling Ribicoff, he's calling Cohen, he's calling the 

White house, he's calling--Kefauver, remember was a man who was almost President 

of the United States--he didn't take no shit from nobody. He was a tough, smart 

able guy ! 

M: Well, Harris indicates that he held off doing this kind of string-pulling 


until the consuaer message which came in March of '62. 


S: No. No. No. No. I'm going back to ~ul~/August/September '61. I'll tell 


you why I remember it so clearly--is because my mother died August of '61 and 


I had to go home when I was in the middle of getting us ready for some- 


thing and as I remember it this was the--as I was thinking on my way in this 


morning about this--the thing we were getting ready for was testimony before 


Kefauver. (M: right) Now, this may be a funny interview, but that's something 


you're going to have to check. My memory says-- 


M: No. You're right. The Department was definitely working up a report. 


Now there's no doubt about that. 


S: Not a report. Testinonv. 

M: Right. Ribicoff's testimony. And as I understand it-- 


S: Before Kefauver on S1552 around-- 


M: Right--but the point I was getting at--was Kefauver directly making phone 


calls urging support of his bill in these early days? 




--- 

12  


S: Oh yeah. 


M: Could we stop for just a minute? 


S: 	Oh yeah. 


Short break in recording 


M: Okay. Let's go ahead. 


S: Yeah. I mean, you know, and let's make one thing clear I don't consider 


The Real Voice the fount of all knowledge--the source-- 


M: No. I don't either. 


S: Okay. All right. You know. Yeah. All right. Kefauver was doing it then 

His staff was doing it then. I can never say Kefauver was doing it 'cause he 

never called me. 

M: But you were aware that--I mean--were they asking you to support the 


bill or-- 


S: Not support--Kefauver and his staff didn't fool around with namby-pamby 


words like 'support!' You endorse that bill! 


M: Right. 


S: Period! Not support. You endorse it. 


M: Okay. What's the reaction of HEW to this? 


S: Wanna turn the tape off? (chuckle) No---hah-ha-ha! 


M: (chuckle) Noooo! 


S: The reaction, in those early days, now--now we're into the fall of '61--I 




& I could  rzmember, Dick ,  and you would know be t t e r - -when  t h e  h e l l  did_ 

Kefauver tes t i fy--uh--when did R i b i c o f f  t e s t i f y ?  

M: September 1 3 t h ,  1961.  

S :  Whew! Okay. Thank you f o r  t h a t .  One month a f t e r  my mother d i e d .  

X: R i g h t .  But of  c o u r s e ,  months b e f o r e  t h i s ,  you were  i n  t h e  p r o c e s s  of 

d e c i d i n g  what you were  going--what h e w a s  g o i n g  t o  s a y .  

S: T h a t ' s  what I ' m  saying--when my mother d i e d  i n  August 11, ' 6 1 ,  I had t o  go 

home; I had t o  l e a v e  t h e  p a p e r s  and Dean Coston had t o  come i n  and s t a r t  p u t t i n  

them t o g e t h e r - - t h e  main q u e s t i o n  was 'How do we hand le  t h i s ? '  'Cause we ' re  

-n o t  gonna endorse  t h a t  b i l l .  Hnnnh? 'Cause w e ' r e  not gonna endorse  t h a t  b i l l .  

Now. How do we do i t ?  How do we not endorse  t h e  b i l l ,  t e s t i f y  i n  i t s  s u p p o r t ,  

n o t  o f f e n d  Kefauver  & h i s  s t a f f ,  and come o u t  o f  t h e  t h i n g  w i t h  our  s k i n .  

M: 	 Can we s t o p  a g a i n ?  

Break i n  r e c o r d i n g  

M: Okay, l e t ' s  go ahead.  

S :  A l l  r i g h t - - I  mean, you know--those were  a problem. Those were some o f  our  

p r a c t i c a l  problems.  You c o u l d n ' t  of--you c o u l d n ' t  o f f e n d  Kefauver .  You d i d n '  

want t o  o f f e n d  Kefauver .  These  were i n s t r u c t i o n s  from t h e  White House. 

M: I n s t r u c t i o n s  from t h e  White House--? 

S: Why, of  c o u r s e :  

M: Not t o  o f f e n d  him? 

S: Why, of  course !  

M: R i g h t .  



S: Absolutely! Nobody wanted to offend Estes! 


M: Right 


S: Hunnh? 


M: Right 


S: You know. You really didn't. It wasn't worth it. You didn't want to get 


into a with Estes. You didn't want to be in a position where Estes was 


saying that the Kennedy administration was weak on drug safety. Because 


Kefauver by that time had established himself as the spokesman in behalf of 


the American people--(phone rings) (M: chuckle) --Oh yeah, yeah, Kefauver--


there was no--:here was--you had to be very careful not to offend Estes 


Kefauver because he could kill ya. He could literally kill you. He--if 


Estes Kefauver said that the drug is bad, it was bad. Because Morton Mintz 


would write that it was bad--mmmmmm (M: that's right) c'mon! And the public 


accepted him. He had air--through John Blair's genius he had already estab- 


lished that he was the world's living expert on this subject. Huh! So you 


had to be careful not to offend Estes--or his staff--or his staff. Keep 


that, because he had--he had a highly professional staff. And when I use the 


word professional I mean political as well as otherwise. He had Bud Fenster- 


wald, he had John Blair and--a--what--some of those others--these were real 


%--these werel't some of these kids that you got running around up here now. 


When Bud Fensterwald said something, you listened. John Blair--and Wales Brox 


they were real men. Okay? And I mean you listened to the White House. Okay. 


SO you weren't--so that was our trouble, but at the same time we had two 


difficulties with S1552, from the HEW standpoint, okay? And I keep--all I'm 


citing is from the HEW standpoint all the way through the interview. We 


didn't like the drug--the drug provisions of the bill because, first, they 


didn't go far enough--they didn't go far enough-- 




M: They didn't include--ah--patent medicines-- 


S: That's right! They just didn't go far enough--they didn't cover the 

problems that wa knew in HEW and Food and Drug to exist. And that was always 

my problen with Blair. discovered problems that wanted solved. He was 

a very single-minded guy. &was after the patent provisions. He was after 

reducing the cost of drugs. Okay? And discovered just enough--he-- 

remember, this was an efficacy bill. (M: right) If you read the early stuff 

it was as if 'Safety! What safety! We got the Food and Drug Law!' ~unnnh: 

Well, we don't have anything in the Food and Drug Law about effectiveness so 

we gotta fix that. And here we're sittin' back there in the--you know--in the 

doldrums in HEW worrying like Hell about drug safety--knowing how inadequate 

the 1939 act--the 1938 act is as to the safety of drugs. We know the inadequac 

of the recall provision; we know the inadequacy of the factory inspection 

authority; we know the inadequacy of getting the stuff off the market once you 

determine; we know the whole problem of the burden of proof. John Blair 

doesn't! He couldn't care less--couldn't care less. He had efficacy--because 

efficacy proved the cost issue. Safety didn't prove the cost issue. He had t~ 

establish that there were ineffective drugs being sold for 50C a tablet when 

they were being manufactured for 1C and besides everything else, they don't wo: 

M: Let's stop a few minutes. 


S: 	Okay. 


Break in recording 


M: So you're saying Blair was putting too much emphasis on just efficacy and 


was blind to the other problems-- 


S:  I don't know--no--I wouldn't say that he was blind to it but Blair1s--but- 

but--John's main goals were the patent provisions and the cost-reducing aspet 



o f  t h e  d r u g - - a f t e r  a l l ,  h e ' s  an  economis t .  

M: Right- -he1s--a--

S:  He's  an  economis t ,  you know, and t h o s e  were  h i s  main g o a l s .  The c o n t r o l  of  

a d v e r t i s i n g - - t h a t  whole t h i n g .  He w a s n ' t  f o c u s i n g  on some of t h e  n i c e t i e s  of  

t h e  Act  t h a t  t h e  a d m i n i s t r a t o r  of  t h e  Act  i s  gonna f o c u s  on.  A l l  r i g h t - -

t h a t ' s  one a s p e c t .  Okay. 

M: R i g h t .  

S: Of what was wrong w i t h  S1552. 

M: I n  o t h e r  words ,  i t  d i d n ' t  go f a r  enough. 

S: It d i d n ' t  go f a r  enough i n  t h e  a r e a  t h a t  h e - - i n  t h e  a r e a  t h a t  i t  t r i e d  

t o  c o v e r ,  (M: r i g h t )  f i r s t .  Then t h e r e ' s  a l l  t h o s e  a r e a s  t h a t  i t  d i d n ' t  

cover  a t  a l l .  (M: R igh t . )  L i k e  n o n - p r e s c r i p t i o n  s t u f f .  Okay, (M: r i g h t ) ,  

unh,  unh--

M: T h e r a p e u t i c  dev ices - -?  

S: The whole t h i n g - - p l u s  food,  cosmet ics ,  e t c e t e r a .  And t h e r e  was t h i s  

f e e l i n g  t h a t  he was s o r t  of  s c r e w i n g  i t  up: We wanted t o  p u t  i t  a l l  t o g e t h e r  

i n  one package and h e r e  we g o t t a  f i g h t  t h e  p r e s c r i p t i o n  d r u g  b a t t l e  over h e r e .  

We--we've g& a b i l l ,  remember. We've g o t  a b i l l .  We know where we wanta go. 

M: So y o u ' r e  s a y i n g  t h a t  t h e r e  a l r e a d y  was - a b i l l  b e f o r e  Kefauver ' s  b i l l ?  

S: Yes. 

M: I d o n ' t  t h i n k  t h e  r e c o r d s  w i l l  prove t h a t  o u t .  

S: W e l l ,  I d o n ' t  g i v e  a damn about  t h e  r e c o r d s !  I ' m  t e l l i n g  you t h e r e  (M: c' 



chuck le )  was a b i l l - - I ' m  t e l l i n '  you t h e r e  was a b i l l - - t h e r e  was a d r a f t  

b i l l  i n  February  1961. 

M: Wel l ,  t h e  FD--

S: I ' m  t e l l i n g  you t h a t  t h e r e  was a  b i l l  i n  1960 and i n  1959 and i n  1958 and 

i n  1956. I ' m  s u g g e s t i n g  t o  you t h a t  t h e r e  was a b i l l  i n  1954. (M: Okay.) I ' m  

s u g g e s t i n g  t o  you t h a t  t h e r e  was a b i l l  i n  1939. (3:Yes.  T h a t ' s  the-- )  T h a t '  

t h e  b i l l  I ' m  t a l k i n g  a b o u t .  (M: Right . )  I'm t a l k i n g  abou t  t h e  b i l l  t h a t  was 

developed f o l l o w i n g  t h e  '38 A c t ,  where a bunch of guys who were concerned abou t  

t h e  inadequacy o f  o u r  food and d r u g  laws s a t  down and w r o t e  a law and w r o t e  a 

b i l l  t o  c l o s e  t h e  l o o p h o l e s  t h a t  they  knew t o  e x i s t  i n  t h a t  law. And t h a t  b i l l  

j u s t  k e p t  g e t t i n g  developed and r e f i n e d  and d r a f t e d  and refined--some s t u f f  

passed  i n  '52 (M: a l l  r i g h t ) - - s o  t h a t  would g e t  dropped and t h e n  t h e  b i l l  would 

c o n t i n u e  t o  be r e f i n e d  and r e d r a f t e d  and r e f i n e d  and r e d r a f t e d  and now h e r e  we 

are--and o b v i o u s l y  b e i n g  r e j e c t e d  i n  19-- -  --under t h e  Eisenhower a d m i n i s t r a t i o r  

--you know, God f o r b i d  we shou ld  do something l i k e  that! But now J a c k  Kennedy 

i s  t h e  P r e s i d e n t  of  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s - - a n d  what do you t h i n k  t h e  first t h i n g  

t h e  Food and Druggers  d id?  

M: What was t h a t ?  

S :  R igh t  up t o  t h e  S e c r e t a r y ' s  o f f i c e  w i t h  t h e i r  b i l l  t h a t ' s  been g e t t i n g  

r e j e c t e d  r i g h t  a l o n g  t h e  l i n e  f o r  y e a r s  and y e a r s  and y e a r s  and y e a r s .  They 

s a i d  'Here ,  we 've  g o t  a b i l l - - w e ' v e  got  a  l e g i s l a t i v e  program. '  And t h e  f i r s t  

q u e s t i o n  t h e  new a d m i n i s t r a t i o n  asked i s  'What have we g o t  and what do we need? 

M: Do you remember who--who i n  t h e  FDA i s  i n  c h a r g e  of  p r e s e n t i n g  such a  b i l l ?  

S: The Commissioner. What's-his-name--

M: L a r r i c k .  



S:  L a r r i c k .  

M: R i g h t .  Would Winton Rankin be invo lved?  

S :  Yes. 

M:  And John  Harvey? 

S :  Yes.  

M: What abou t  X i l l i a m  Goodrich? 

S: Gee, I j u s t  remembered t h a t  one myself !  

M: Winton Rankin d o e s n ' t  a g r e e  w i t h  you,  b u t - -

S :  What d i d  Winton Rankin s a y ?  I ' l l  s t a t e  r i g h t  h e r e  where h e ' s  wrong. 

M: W e l l ,  a h ,  i n  my go ing  th rough  t h e  FDA b i l l  I--I have t h e  n o t i o n  t h a t  t h e  

FDA was r e a l l y  n o t  keep ing  up w i t h - - i n  terms of  new l e g i s l a t i o n .  Rankin s o r t  

of  a g r e e s  w i t h  me. 

S :  Wel l ,  I d i s z g r e e  w i t h  Winton and I would s u g g e s t  you t a l k  w i t h  B i l l y  Goodrj 

and o t h e r s .  There  was a b i l l .  

M: There  was a b i l l .  Okay. 

S :  There  was a b i l l .  

M: Do you t h i n k  t h a t  Kefauver ' s  h e a r i n g s - - K e f a u v e r t s  i n v e s t i g a t i o n s  had 

something t o  do w i t h - -  

S:  P a r t l y .  Yes. Yes. --

M: - -wi th  s o r t  of s p u r r i n g  t h e  FDA on--? 



S:  Yes. Yes.  I would assume t h a t  under  t h e  Eisenhower a d m i n i s t r a t i o n  and 

w i t h  Fleming as S e c r e t a r y  i n  t h e  l a t e r  y e a r s  and Bob F o r s y t h  who was A s s i s t a n t  

S e c r e t a r y  and a good f r i e n d  of  mine who I j u s t  saw a t  t h e  a i r p o r t  y e s t e r d a y - -  

u n b e l i e v a b l e - - t h e y  would have been s a y i n g  t o  t h e  food and d r u g g e r s  'Hey, '  you 

know, ' w h a t ' s  Kefauver t a l k i n g  a b o u t ? '  and t h e  food and d r u g g e r s  p r e p a r i n g  

documents. There  was a d r a f t  b i l l  and i f  Winton Rankin d o e s n ' t  remember i t ,  

t h a t ' s  h i s  problem. 

M: Ah--well ,  t h e r e  was a d r a f t  b i l l  b u t  it was--

S :  I ' m  n o t  t a l k i n g  abou t  j u s t  a d r a f t  b i l l !  

M: --but  i t  was--but it was v e r y  h u r r i e d l y  p u t  t o g e t h e r  and o b v i o u s l y  i n  

r e s p o n s e  t o  many of t h e  t h i n g s  t h a t  Kefauver  had uncovered.  

S: Oh- - i t  was a damn good b i l l - - i t  w a s - - i t  was,  w a s - - i t ' s  what was k i n d a  

ended up d r a f t e d  a t  t h e  e n d - - i t  became t h e  H a r r i s  B i l l .  

M: R i g h t .  

S :  Yeah. I s  t h a t  Win ton ' s  memory--it was h u r r i e d l y  put  t o g e t h e r ?  Sure  it 

was h u r r i e d l y  p u t  t o g e t h e r  a f t e r  t h i n k i n g  a b o u t  i t  s i n c e  1938. (M: chuckle)  

I d o n ' t  buy t h a t .  I d o n ' t  buy t h a t .  

M: Okay. Wel l ,  l e t ' s  move on t o  o t h e r  t h i n g s .  

S: Yeah, you know, Winton, I loved Winton. Winton was l i k e  a f a t h e r  t o  me 

t h r o u g h  t h i s - - i n  some r e s p e c t s ,  you know, but--but--what would be  h u r r i e d l y  i n  

Winton w an kin's mind would be t o  t h e  l e g i s l a t i v e  lawyer  o r  p o l i t i c i a n  t h a t  

would have been 'What;s  t a k i n g  him s o  l o n g ? '  (M: chuck le )  You know. To him 

it was h u r r i e d l y .  To me and B i l l y  Goodrich and i n  p a r t  t o  Ted E l l enbogen  it 

was 'Where i n  H e l l  you guys been! '  Now--



M: Okay. We were discussing the inadequacies of (S: Okay.) S1552 


S: That--the bill itself--what it tried to cover it didn't cover adequately. 


Then with all the things it didn't cover, it ruined itself politically--huh? 


M: Right. 


S: Ruined itself politically. And then we in HEW had nothing we could do. 

We--we had nothing to &with the patent and cost provisions. I mean--and 

this is a point that--that my dear, dear friend Richard Harris can not prove 

the FDA had--huh?--that Blair was convinced we could just pass them as one 

and we could take care of all their problems. The White House could care less 

what a bunch of us down at HEW thought about patents and prices. It wasn't 

our bag. Stick to your responsibilities. Stick to what you know. That was 

our bag. HEW didn't have that much input into the question of--into the 

question of prices--in the question of patents. 

M: Ah--but--but--there was a concern. What was your attitude towards the 


economic question--other than that? 


S: The official attitude was that it's none of our business. 


M: Wha--what was the unofficial attitude? 


S :  The unofficial attitude is--I think Kefauver's--Kefauverfs got a Hell of 

a good point--I don't know what to do about it. 

M: Oh. 


S: That's in the political (M: Oh.) area. That's between us upstairs. 


--They've got a H& of a good point. It's just that I don't-- 


M: --Don't know how to--how to tackle it-- 




S: You know. A bunch of guys--a bunch--a social worker from--a social 


worker from Michigan, a governor from Connecticut, a--a--a lawyer of water 


pollution--lawyer from Northern Minnesota--doesn't know what to do about the 


high cost of drugs. No. 


Break in recording 


M: Oh. 


S: Is she going? 


M: Yeah. 


S: You know, it wasn't that we were not concerned about the problem. Some of 


us personally were. Okay? Some of us personally agreed with Kefauver, but we 


weren't calling the shots on that part of the bill. You see, you know, it's th; 


simple. 


M: Who w a s  calling the shots? 

S: Well--more White House--economic stuff. The Commerce Department would 


get in on it. Lots of people were calling shots on something that big. 


M: All right. 


S: Yeh. 


M: So in other words, the White House-- 


S: The Patent Office was in. Lots of people in-- 


M: Were there group discussions of this problem--or--? 


S: Yeah--the Bureau of the Budget was in. Yeah, there were group discussions 

But when the group discussion would get around to patents and prices and all 

of it, nobody turned to the HEW guy to say 'What do you think?' Uunnh! So 



w h a t e v e r  t h e  HEW guy thought--what w a s  t h e  d i f Z e r e n c e ?  So what!  

M: R i g h t .  

S: He w a s n ' t  making economic p o l i c y  f o r  t h e  U n i t e d  S t a t e s  w i t h  r e g a r d  t o  d r u g s .  

The HEW guy was t h e r e  making food ,  d r u g ,  c o s m e t i c ,  and t h e r a p e u t i c  d e v i c e  p o l i c y  

M: A l l  r i g h t .  T h i s  maybe i s  g e t t i n g  ahead o f  t h e  game a l i t t l e  b i t  bu t  d i d  t h e  

Kennedy a d m i n i s t r a t i o n  e v e r  come t o  any c o n c l u s i v e  d e c i s i o n  on t h e  economics t h t  

S :  They opposeC i t .  

M: They opposed i t .  I s e e - -

S: I c a n ' t  remember. You could  check t h e  r e c o r 5  on t h a t  even b e t t e r .  I - - ( s i g h  

--I d o n ' t  remember t h a t  because  you s e e  Iwas t a k i n g  t h e  p o s i t i o n - - a h - - ' D o n ' t  

b o t h e r  me w i t h  t h a t . ' - - y o u  know, l i k e  by t h e  t i z e  t h e y  a c t u a l l y  g o t  down t o  t h e  

v o t e ,  I d o n ' t  remember i f  they  s loughed i t - - i f  t2ey  s a i d  'We're t a k i n g  no 

p o s i t i o n . ' - - o r  whatever--you could  check t h a t .  3 a t  would be i n  t h e  r e c o r d .  

(X: Y e a h - - i t - - i t - - )  I d o n ' t  remeber t h a t  r i g h t  eown a t  t h e  end.  I f  they  took 

a "no p o s i t i o n "  o r  we opposed it--I d o n ' t  remember. But I w a s n ' t  concerned 

w i t h  t h a t .  I - - I - -you know--from p o i n t  of  v i m  I was n o t  i n t o  t h a t .  (M:Righ 

And--and t h a t ' s  when I g o t  i n t o  some o f  my w o r s t  s c r a p e s  w i t h  B l a i r  and F e n s t e r  

wald.  You know--them sc reamin '  a t  me t h a t  I s h o u l d  be i n t o  a t h i n g  t h a t  I ' m  

n o t  i n .  (M: R i g h t . )  You know, I have no way of  g e t t i n g  t h i s .  (M: R i g h t . )  Me 

s c r e a m i n g  a t  them t h a t  t h e y  should b e  more concerned  w i t h  t h e  inadequacy o f  the  

law--with t h e  law govern ing  t h e  s a f e t y  of d r u g s  t h a n  t h e y  were.  Huh? (M: Rigt  

You know, and n e v e r  t h e  twain  meets .  

M:  So ,  i t ' s  q u i t e  e v i d e n t  from what ~ o u ' v e  s a i d  t h a t - - t h a t  t h e  Kennedy 

a d m i n i s t r a t i o n  r e a l l y  was n o t  s u p p o r t i n g  K e f a u v e r ' s  b i l l .  



S: Right. Not the economic part. But some parts yes. 


M: Even though they might have found themselves in the position of having to 


make Kefauver think that they were. 


S: No. It wasn't so much that--it wasn't a question--we never made Estes 


think that they were. He--you know--nobody's that stupid. No. You don't fool 


anybody in this business. Ummh. Estes didn't care--well--you know--what--what 


-he was thinkin' is how you presented it to the general public. And to the press 

And I think if you read Ribicoff's September '61 statement very =fully you'll 

see how--how Abe, brilliantly I think, skirts that whole issue--making Kefauver 

almost a hero--huh?--(M: Right.) N e v e r  saying that his bill is lousy (M: right) 
--nnuuh?--remember? --Okay. 

M: Oh--- well. (chuckle) He supported almost everything Kefauver--a--and 


then said 'We can't support your bill.' 


S: 'We support the intent of this and the intent of that and the intent of this 

and this was excellent and you left that out'--you know--'mistaken in the 

intent here but we would do it this way--and the intent here but we would do 

it that way.' By God--that's the game! That's the--uh--uh--the legislative 

game! Kefauver wanted more. Kefauver wanted more. And he couldn't get it. I 

think Kefauver--as I recall, Kefauver was pleased. I think I recall his staff 

pleased with the extent Ribicoff went towards saying how good Kefauver's bill 

was because they knew that some of us were ready to rip it apart and show how 


inadequate it was. 


M: Who--who were these people? 




M: J u s t  you? 

S :  I n c l u d i n g  me. 

M: And who e l s e ?  

S: Okay. The Food and Druggers .  Rankin, Harvey,  L a r r i c k - -  

M: And you f e l t  i t  was inadequa te  on t h e  l e v e l  o f - - t h e  t e c h n i c a l  l e v e l ?  

S: The t e c h n i c a l  l e v e l .  (M: R igh t . )  Yes. I t  w a s n ' t  g i v i n g  us  t h e  p r o t e c t i o n  

we needed.  E f f i c a c y  r e a l l y  w a s n ' t  t h a t  b i g  a d e a l  w i t h  us--(N: unh-huh) b e c a u s ~  

w e  could  make--we cou ld  make an i n e f f e c t i v e  d r u g  u n s a f e .  (M: unh-huh. R i g h t . )  

We w e r e n ' t  t h a t  concerned about  e f f i c a c y .  We were  more concerned about  s a f e t y .  

And i f  B l a i r ' d  j u s t  l i s t e n e d  t o  me and i f  everybody e l s e  had j u s t  l i s t e n e d  t o  

me, t h e y  would have known what t h e  H e l l  I was t a l k i n g  abou t  and we would have 

been saved maybe some of  t h e  embarrassment o f - - o f - - t h a l i d o m i d e  l a t e r  on. 

M: Wel l ,  can you e x p l a i n  some of  t h e  inadequac ies  o f  t h e  Food and Drug b i l l ' s  

weaknesses i n  t e r m s  of  s a f e t y - -

S:  & y o u ' r e  r e a l l y  a s k i n g  me t o  go back--now--now--and what I could s a y  

t o  you i s  'No, I c a n ' t  s i t  h e r e  o f f  t h e  t o p  of my head and e x p l a i n ,  b u t  I can 

t e l l  vou how t o  do i t . '  Go back and read and compare S1552 and t h e  H a r r i s  B i l l  

a s  o r i g i n a l l y  i n t r o d u c e d .  (N: A l l  r i g h t . )  And j u s t  s e e  how we covered a subjc-
(M: A l l  r i g h t . )  How we took t h e  problem of  t h e  u n s a f e  d r u g  a l r e a d y  o u t  t h e r e  

on t h e  market  and g o t  rid of  i t .  I t  was b r i l l i a n t !  I f  we had known then what 

we know 9, have approved t h e  NDA i n  t h ewe w o u l d n ' t  f i r s t  p l a c e  and t h e r e f o r ,  

- - i t ' s  o f f  t h e  market!  How we made--how we made--unh--lack of  good manufactur  

p r a c t i c e s  a d u l t e r a t i o n  p e r  s e .  Why, we f i g u r e d  o u t  a way t o  make a  d rug  a d u l t  

a t e d  t h a t  w a s n ' t !  Wasn' t!  A  p e r f e c t l y  good drup!  (M: Through a bad manufac- 

t u r i n g  p r o c e s s ? )  Yeah--but t h a t  bad manufac tu r ing  p r o c e s s  ended up w i t h  a 



p e r f e c t l y  good d r u g .  (M: R i g h t . )  Huh? But we s a i d  ' T h a t ' s  n o t  good enough. 

You lucked o u t  t h i s  t i m e ;  y a  lucked o u t  n e x t  t i m e ;  w e ' r e  w o r r i e d  about  t h e  

t h i r d  t ime  when you d o n ' t  l u c k  o u t  and t h a t  bad p r a c t i c e  ends  up w i t h  a bad 

d r u g . '  (M: R i g h t . )  So w e ' r e  go ing  t o  s a y  'From t h e  b e g i n n i n g ,  i f  t h e  

p r a c t i c e  i s  n o t  good manufac tu r ing  p r a c t i c e ,  i t ' s  a d u l t e r a t e d . '  What i f  i t ' s  

a d u l t e r a t e d  o r  n o t  i n  f a c t .  Kefauver d i d n ' t  have t h a t  s t u f f  i n  h i s  b i l l .  

M: Okay. What abou t  - uh - how impor tan t  d i d  y o u r  group f e e l  t h a t  t h i n g s  

l i k e  g e n e r i c  - uh  - s t r e n g t h e n i n g  g e n e r i c  p r e s c r i b i n g  was? 

S: T h a t ' s  where t h o s e  o f  us  who were t h e  a c t i v i s t s  from an economic p o i n t  

o f  view w i t h i n  HEW cou ld  make some s c o r e s .  I n  o t h e r  words ,  we were a b l e  t o  

go f o r  something l i k e  t h a t  on a  g e n e r a l  p r o p o s i t i o n  - uh - um - a s  e x p e r t s  i n  

- - then  we cou ld  wheel  i n  t h e  P u b l i c  H e a l t h  S e r v i c e  t y p e s  and a l l  of  t h a t  and 

s o  we were  a b l e  t o  g e t  t h o s e  p a r t s  o f  ~ e f a u v e r ' s  b i l l  i n  t h e - - I  t h i n k  R i b i c o f f  

t e s t i f i e d  i n  ' 6 1  we cou ld  s u p p o r t  t h a t .  D i d n ' t  you--I 'm p r e t t y  s u r e - -

M: Yes. 

S:  T h a t  was me s a y i n g  'Come OJ! Ya mean we c a n ' t  even suppor t  t h a t !  ~ e ' s  

right! H e ' s  m! People  should  be a b l e  t o  wa lk  i n  and s a y  t o  t h e  f r i e n d l y  

d r u g g i s t  ' H i ,  I want some meprobamate.' --and boom!--we're back t o  1958 and 

'59.  We're back  t o  my exper ience- -we ' re  back t o  '57  and ' 58  and my e x p e r i e n c e  

w i t h  B l a t n i k  (M: w i t h  B l a t n i k , r i g h t ) .  'Cause I knew abou t  meprobamate then--

I ' m  a t  l e a s t  a b l e  t o  s a y  t h e  word. 

M: T h a t ' s  t h e  f i r s t  t ime  I ' v e  heard  i t  pronounced.  

S: Okay. Yeah. So I s a y ,  what i s  wrong w i t h  t h a t ?  A l l  t h e  guy i s  s a y i n g  i s  

t h a t  when you r e a d  t h i s  l i t e r a t u r e - - a n d  I was a lways  very ho t  on a d v e r t i s i n g  

--from t h e  B l a t n i k  exper ience- -as  a g e n e r a l  a t t i t u d e - - t h a t ,  t h a t  appea led  t o  

me. What a p p e a l e d  t o  me most about  t h e  g e n e r i c  name s t u f f  was t h a t  i t  a p p l i e c  



t o  t h e  a d v e r t i s i n g .  (M: R i g h t . )  Sure.  And I--1 f e l t  t h i s  i s  a t  l e a s t  a 

s t e p .  H a r r i s  c a l l e d  i t  compromise. I c a l l  i t  t a k i n g  s t e p s  a t  a t ime.  

(M: R i g h t . )  Y'know. T h i s  i s  a t  l e a s t  a s t e p .  I t ' s  no t - -we ' re  never gonna 

g e t  t o  t h e  p a t e n t  s t u f f - - w e ' r e  never gonna g e t  some o f  t h a t  economic s t u f f  

b u t  we can =--we can take some of t h e  s t e p s .  Yes.  And 1 t h i n k  e v e n t u a l l y  

we endorsed t h a t .  E a r l y  i n  t h e  game. I n  f a c t ,  none o f  i t  was good enough-- 

d o n ' t  you see--- o f  i t  was good enough because  B l a i r ' s  whole scheme depended 

on t h e  p a t e n t  reEorm. (M: R i g h t . )  I f  y a  d i d n ' t  buy t h a t ,  h i s  whole house of 

c a r d s  tumbled. (M: Right . )  I ' m  n o t  a  house-of -ca rds  b u i l d e r .  (M: chuckle) 

I ' m  n o t  s u g g e s t i n g  John i s  e i t h e r .  I t ' s  j u s t  t h a t  he developed a scheme t h a t  

r e q u i r e d  e v e r y t h i n g  t o  f i t  i n t o  place--and h e  t o o k  one p i e c e  o u t  and i t  f e l l .  

I was w i l l i n g  t o  b u i l d  it from t h e  ground up. And--and--I t h i n k  w e  were ,  

you know--- t h i n g s ,  you w i l l  r e c a l l ,  you know, i n  t h e  end g o t  i n .  (M: Righ 

They g o t  i n .  

M: Could--1 guzss  we ' re  now moving up somewhat t o  t h e - - t o  t h e  " s e c r e t  meeting.  

S :  Noouhuh--my f a v o r i t e  s u b j e c t !  Haha! (M: R i g h t . )  A l l  r i g h t ,  y'know, your  

number 5 i s  a dLscuss ion o f  HEW'S and FDA's a t t e m p t s  t o  w r i t e  t h e i r  own b i l l  

--'Were you i n v o l v e d ? '  What I ' m  s u g g e s t i n g  t o  you i s - - i s  t h a t  when I a r r i v e d  

on t h e  scene  i n  May and go t  i n t o  d rug  s t u f f  i n  J u l y  t h a t  t h e r e  was a document 

i n  f r o n t  o f  me c a l l e d  " the  b i l l . "  (M: R i g h t ,  r i g h t . )  There  a l r e a d y  w a s  one.  

(M: Righ t . )  And I took t h a t  document and Ted Ellenbogen--and Wilbur and Ted 

maybe have a  b e t t e r  memory on t h i s  than  I do because  d r a f t e d  i t .  (H: Right  

I d o n ' t  c a r e  w&Winton Rankin says--and you t e l l  Ted Is a i d  t h e r e  was a 

February  ' 6 1  d a t e  on t h a t  d r a f t !  

M: No, I know. By t h i s  t ime t h e r e  was  a  b i l l .  I a g r e e  w i t h  t h a t .  And i t  wa 

b e i n g - - i t  w a s  i n  f l u x  and p o s s i b l y  being shaped and reworked. 



S :  Yeah and I t h i n k  my a t t i t u d e  i n  t h o s e  e a r l y  days  was-- to  a n  Ellenbogen and 

t o  a Rankin and t o  a  Harvey--my a t t i t u d e  was 'Wr i te  i t !  W r i t e  i t !  J u s t  make 

s u r e  t h a t  e v e r y  loophole  t h a t  e x i s t s  i n  t h e  law today  i s  closed--make s u r e  

t h a t  e v e r y  a u t h o r i t y  you have bu t  you f e e l  you need i s  provided f o r - -

make s u r e  t h a t  e v e r y t h i n g  you need t o  p r o t e c t  t h e  h e a l t h  and w e l f a r e  o f  the  

American peop le  i n  t h i s  whole s e r i e s  of p r o d u c t s  i s  provided f o r  i n  t h i s  b i l l . '  

What I s a y  i s  'Wr i te  i t ! '  

M: It was a t r u e  omnibus b i l l  w a s n ' t  i t ?  

S: It was a true omnibus b i l l .  It covered e v e r y t h i n g .  A n i m a l - - a n t i b i o t i c s .  


( s n i c k e r ! )  T h a t ' s  how t h a t  b i l l  was d r a f t e d .  I d i d n ' t  t o  s i t  i n  on t h e  


d r a f t i n g  of i t .  (M: That  wasn ' t  your job. )  Tha t  w a s n ' t  my job.  That w a s  t h e i r  


i n s t r u c t i o n s - - ' C o v e r  every loophole  t h a t  exists. (X: R i g h t ,  r i g h t . )  Cover 


e v e r y  one o f  them. And p i c k  up e v e r y t h i n g  you can from Kefauver.  (M: Yeah.) 


You make s u r e  t h a t  e v e r y t h i n g  Kefauver ' s  f o r  w e ' r e  f o r  too- -wi th in  reason .  


Make s u r e  t h a t  y o u ' r e  b e t t e r  t h a n  Kefauver.  


Break i n  r e c o r d i n g  

S :  Okay, y o u ' r e  going t o  add r i g h t  t h e r e - - ' b e t t e r  t h a n  Kefauver where t h a t  

was p o s s i b l e . '  (M: R i g h t . )  That meant, y'know, where he h a s  t r i e d  t o  cover a 

t h i n g  and we know i t  should be covered b e t t e r ,  & i t  b e t t e r .  

M: R i g h t .  OK,  can we t a l k  about  e v e n t s  l e a d i n g  up t o  t h e  " s e c r e t  meetings?" 

(S: A l l  r i g h t . )  I n  o t h e r  words,  what--what p r e c i p i t a t e d  t h i s  s o - c a l l e d  " s e c r e t  

meeting?" You may n o t  l i k e  t h e  t e rm " s e c r e t  meeting1'--

S: I ' m  t r y i n g  t o  p u t  i t  i n  t h e  t ime frame now. R i b i c o f f  t e s t i f i e d  i n  Septembe~ 

o f  ' 6 1  and t h e  days  s o r t  of d r i f t .  (M: A l l  r i g h t . )  Now comes 1962, P r e s i d e n t  

Kennedy wants  t o  have--now what message w a s  t h a t ?  I s  t h i s  t h e  h e a l t h  message 

o r  i s  t h i s  t h e  f i r s t  consumer a f f a i r s  message? 



M: The first consumer message. 


S: Okay. So we're all heavy into the first consumer zessage. There was a lot 

of activity going on then with Kefauver--with the staff demanding that the 

message endorse the Kefauver bill. (H: That's right.) Umh--we're fudging. 

I think the resolution of that--and you can check this out--is we mention 

Kefauver's name but not endorse the bill and we say that we're going to send 

up a package--we're going to send up a bill. Okay. We send up the bill but 

in a very interesting technique--I'm pretty sure this was the technique-- 

again you could check it--as I recall, what we did was we sent the bill to the 

House only. (M: Right.) Now, that's unheard of--that's unheard of--you always 

send a bill to the Speaker of the House and the President of the Senate. Here 

was a bill that went only to the Speaker of the House. (X: Right.) Okay? 

Another 'give' to Kefauver. 

M: Now, what was the thinking behind this? 


S: That we would ride out the storm. That we would ride the Kefauver Bill and 


get it improved so that it was as good as the Harris Bill. 


M: In other words, the strategy was to use the Kefauver--S1552 (S: As our 


vehicle.) as the base and alter it and-- 


S: We resolved that question and just proceeded--we resolved the question of 


the vehicle and said we'll use Kefauver's bill as the vehicle in the Senate 


and proceed accordingly. The vehicle for a food-drug-cosmetic bill. 


x: Right. But obviously you would--if it were possible, ~ou'd like for 


Sl552 to disappear. 


S: Obviou--well--Lf we--yeah. (M: Well, well--as you say--) Nauuu--I don't 




know--I never know--personally? No, I thought 51552 was the greatest thing 


since popcorn. I was not exactly a friend of the drug industry. (M: unh-huh) 


Remember, I said to you in the beginning, Blatnik and Kefauver were exactly 


alike--they were Populist-Liberals--one from Minnesota; one from Tennessee. 


Well where the hell you think I'm from? (M: Minnesota.) Yeah--what the hell 


kind of a liberal do you think I was? (N: Right.) Okay. And still am. 


(M: Right.) Right. But I have a job to do--I have a job to do. I felt 


honestly that those guys weren't doing as good a job as they could have done. 


-Much of this was my--(M: What guys?) The Blair guys--the Kefauver guys. 

M: That they weren't doing as good a job as they could? 


S: On the drug safety. Yes. 


M: Oh--on drug safety. 


S: On drug safety. Yes. 


M: Oh, I see. I get that. 


S: Yes. All right. Much of this was my strategy, as I recall. --Not taking 

credit--just reflecting historically. Iwas the guy who would sit there and 

they would say 'Well, we gotta send the bill to the Senate and the House.' 

And I'd say 'Who said that?' I gotta favorite expression--'Where is it written? 

(M: chuckle) 'Where is it written that you have to send one to the House and 


one to the Senate?' 


M: So it was your idea to use 51552 as the base (S: as the base) in the Senate; 


Okay. Why--why the "secret meeting?" 


S: All right. We're at a point--help me on the time--when did that 


bill go up? 
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M: The FDA b i l l ?  

S :  Yes. 

M: I t ' s  i n t r o d u c e d  i n  May of  1962. 

S :  I - -yeah--

M: A t  t h a t  t ime  i t  was s p l i t .  

S: What was i t ?  

M: I have two numbers--11581 and 11582 Maybe i t  was l a t e r  t h a t  i t  was s p l i t .  

S: Ask Ted El lenbogen.  That  w a s n ' t  s p l i t  was i t ?  That  w a s n ' t  a s p l i t  Wasn' 

t h e r e  something wrong w i t h  t h e  f i r s t  d r a f t  and had t o  r e i n t r o d u c e  i t ?  

M:  Could be .  I ' d  have--

S: Have t o  check t h a t .  Yeah. I t h i n k  I was--I--115819 

M:  And 11582. 

S: Did we s p l i t  o f f  w i t h  p r e s c r i p t i o n  d rugs?  Yeah. Okay. 

M :  That  was a p r e t t y  smart move. 

S:  Okay. So you 've  go: a reminder  of t h i s .  Thank you f o r  t h e  compliment. 


I s a i d  ' L e t ' s  s p l i t  o f f  p r e s c r i p t i o n  d rugs  and move up t h e r e  w i t h  two b i l l s  am 


t h e n  b a s i c a l l y  what we could  say  i s  " L e t ' s  t a k e  them one a t  a t ime." '  


M: R i g h t .  Because,  obv ious ly ,  11581 was b e t t e r  p a i r e d  w i t h  S1552. 


S :  T h a t ' s  r i g h t .  Yeah, yeah.  Tha t  was t h e  p a i r - - t h a t  was t h e  pa i r - -and  I 


can remember even s a y i n g  'And w e ' l l  t a k e  up '82 n e x t  y e a r . '  Yeah. Yeah. L e t  




do this one now--let's & the Kefauver thing now--rolling. Okay. Now, wetre 

in the May of '62--Kefauverfs ~ x y s  are at this approach--they don't like 

this--we didn't endorse 1552--cam6 up with our own bill--announcing that our 

bill and [cnintzlligible!! Okay? Now the Senate Judiciary Committee has 

moved into executive session and they're marking up 1552. (M: Right.) We're 

practically into the end of May and there is Rreat trouble inside the committee 

over each section--they're fighting like heck about it. Kefauver's not keeping 

us advised of his strategy--what he's doing inside the committee. In fact we 

didn't -what was going on inside there. As I recall I was sort of left out. 

M: Okay. You were thinking about the "secret"--uh--the events leading up to 


the "secret" meeting. 


S: All right. 3ut see you raised a nice question. "Was the Administration 

really backing Kefauver's bill in the Senate as he was told," Real Voice, 

Harris, page 155. Don't you see--in 9mind--in my mind, were not only 

backing Kefauver's bill insofar as it related to drug safety and efficacy-- 

huh (X: right)--we were trying to make it better. (M: Right.) Y'know. How 

much more support can you give something than to try to improve it? (M: Right.) 

hnd reallv improve it. 

N: Well, you're not--you're not totally committed to the S1552 as it stands-- 

as Kefauver wants it to be. 

S: Supporting a bill does not necessarily mean you buy the language. 


M: Right 


S: But that was a constant battle between me and Blair. 'Do you support the 


bill?' 'Yes.' 'Well good, why don't you say so?' 'Because we don't buy the 


language.' 




H :  Complete l anguage .  

S :  	 'Wel l ,  you g o t  t o  buy t h e  languape. '  ' N O ,  we w m ' t  buy t h e  language.!  

'Then ycu d o n ' <  s u p p o r t  t h e  b i l l . '  'Yes, we d o . '  B lah-b lah ,  b l a h - b l a h ,  b lah-

b l a h .  G e t t i n g  t o  t h e  p o i n t  where Blair and F e n s t e r w a l d  d i d n ' t  trust me. -I was 

l e a d i n g  up t o  t h e  I ,  s e c r e t "  meet ing.  I w a s  t h e  p o l i t r c a l  guy c a l l i n g  t h e  s h o t s  

on t h e  b i l l .  SJ i f  t h e  White  House i s n ' t  e n d o r s i n g  t h e  b i l l ,  and i f  HEW i s n ' t  

e n d o r s i n g  t h e  b i l l ,  who g e t s  blamed? The p o l i t i c a l  guy who's  c a l l i n g  t h e  

-s h o t s !  And I was i n  t h a t  p e c u l i a r  s i t u a t i o n  I always  found myself  i n .  I was 

t h e  p o l i t i c a l  guy and I was a l s o  by now, t h e  t e c h n i c i a n .  Iknew a s  much abou t  

t h a t  d r a f t  b i l l - - a b o u t  t h a t  b i l l  a s  Ted El lenbogen.  You can t e l l  Ted I s a i d  

so .  'Cause t h a t ' s  t h e  way I o p e r a t e .  The & w a y  you can make good p o l i c y  

i n  this a r e a  i s  t o  b e - - i s  t o  be a t e c h n i c i a n .  (X: R i g h t . )  And I get- -a lways  

have been s i c k  and t i r e d  of  t h e  p o l i c y  maker who d o e s n ' t  know how t h e  t h i n g  

works.  Okay. So I made myself  t h e  t e c h n i c i a n  t h e  policymaker and I could  

proceed on e i t h e r  p a t h .  You could t a l k  policy t o  me abou t  s p l i t t i n '  t h e  b i l l  

and d o i n g  i t  t h i s  way and what does E s t e s  t h i n k  and a l l  o f  t h a t  and I could  

have that h a t  on and I could  t u r n  r i g h t  around and have a l i n e - b y - l i n e  

d i s c u s s i o n  on t t e  b i l l  w i t h  Ellenbogen and Goodr ich  and Rankin and anyone 

e l s e  B l a i r .  I could s a y  t o  B l a i r ,  'But on page such-and-such,  on l i n e  

so-and-so,  you s a y  t h i s  and you should say  t h a t . '  I d o n ' c  t h i n k  you would 

expec t  me twelve  y e a r s  later t o  have-- to  remember--okay? (M:  No, no.) But--

b u t  t h a t ' s  t h e  way I was--1 was o p e r a t i n g .  And i t  i s  now--and--and-(sigh)-Bla-
and F e n s t e r w a l d ' s  a t t i t u d e  toward me was I cou ld  do magic. Iwas t h e  guy who 

could  perform t h i s - - t u r n  t h i s  t h i n g  around--and I w a s n ' t  do ing  i t  and I wasn't 

s u p p o r t i n g  them one hundred p e r  c e n t ,  t h e r e f o r e  I was no good. Okay? Prior 

t o  t h e  meet ing.  Now, what was happening i n s i d e  t h a t  room was--and I wasn ' t  

-there--was  t h a t  n a s s i v e  disagreements--and t h e y  were  v o t i n g  on t h e  b i l l  s e c t i c  



by section, y'know, and Dodd wouldn't show up for a key vote and Kefauver 


~ould go ir as I remember, to a meeting and he's got the thing--he's g4.t it 


by two votes--and they were never there--you know. Someone said to Iiarris, 


y'know, 'It was like, you know, it--it was like ghosts!' He had--he had the 

votes all the time and yet they were never there. And he was losing some. 

urnm. At the same time--of course this is just guessing on my part--the drug 

industry--- forget this--the drug industry by this time had decided they 

want a bill. (M:  Umm-humh.) They wanted a drug safety/efficacy bill--they 

don't want, y'know, Kefauver's economic stuff. (X: Right.) They want a bill. 

See--to get--and it's very obvious--they want a bill to get it off their backs. 

(X: Right.) A11 these things come together. They're making no progress in 

the committee. It's, y'know, knock-down, drag-out battles. The drug industry 

wants a bill. Okay? So now, the chairman of the committee is confronted with 

a real nice question. He's got two sides of a question--and they -want a 

bill. But neither one of them are willing to work it out. Huh! And here 

sits--literally, on the sidelines--the third party--ytknow--the government. 

(X: chuckle) Huh! 01: Right.) The Administration saying--ySknow, trying to 

knock on the door--'Hey fellows, I gotta bill, too!' (X: Mrrmunmh) Huh? James 

0 .  Eastland--he figured out what to do--bring the guy from the outside in and 

have him sit down with the other guy who seems reasonable and maybe they can 

work things out. Kefauver's position is established and known. It's this 

(sounds as if Sonosky taps a paper--the S1552 bill?). Now. I know that John 

Blair and Bud Fensterwald would deny that up and down the wall, and they'd say, 

'We were willing to compromise--we're not that stupid.' Y'know. And we'd been 


through this and my only answer to them was 'You never showed anybody.' The 


reason they never showed anybody is they had to take a hard-nosed position right 


from the beginning. They were, y'know, thev knew what they were up against. 


Well, they weren't telling what they were doing and I don't know if they wen 




telling anybody else what they were doing. And we were supposed to sit there 


and guess and we were slpposed to know--well, let's leave everychrng to Jchn 


and to Bud. 


3 :  They just weren't cooperating endugh and weren't willing to compromise enougt 

S: Yeah. Yeah. Now, they claimed later--and this is jumping ahead--but Blair 

will claim--John will claim--and I have always taken the position that 'you 

never told me.' 'Cause if he had, maybe things would a worked out different. 

I think what was in Blair's mind--and certainly in Kefauver's--this was told 

to me later and I might be reflecting what I read in Real Voice a long time 

ago. Their strategy was to go out onto the floor with a weak bill. Let the 

Judiciary Committee report out a gutted bill. Huh! (M: Umh-huh.) Let 'em 

report out a gutted bill. They'll file a stronR minority report, led by 

KeEauver, Carroll, (M: Hart) Hart, Dodd--he'd get Dodd by then--etcetera, see. 

And then, on the floor, offer amendments. That's--okay? He never told me this. 

He never told me this. And besides everything else, I don't operate that way. 

It may be a failing on my part--I don't know how to lose to win. (M: Right.) 

I--I fight 'en when I can. I--I--I--Idon't that way. Okay? 3 

thinking was that you come out of the Senate Judiciary Committee with as strong 

a bill as possible. Not with as weak a bill as possible! With as strqng a 

bill as possible. I wasn't as confident of Blair's ability or Kefauver's 

ability to the bill amended. (M: on the floor)--on the floor. I was 

desperatelv afraid of a weak bill passing. Okay. And I wasn't as convinced 

as I think Blair and Fensterwald claimed later, that their final strategy was 

--'If the bill is that bad, Kennedy will veto it.' 


S :  Who told them that? 




?I :  Yeah. 

S :  I wasn ' t  t h a t  s a t i s f i e d  t h a t  t h a t ' s  & r  i~ would work. d a s  t h e  PrecLdent 

o f  t h e  United S t a t e s ,  who was invo1v.d up t o  h i s  e y e b a l l s  i n  Ber l in--and,  you 

know, l o t s  o f  o t h e r  t h l . : ~ g swere goZ.ng on i n  t h o s e  d a y s .  Y'know. Was--was--

As I r e c a l l ,  t h e  b i l l  was f i n a l l y  d r a f t e d - - t h e  b i l l  was f i n a l l y  s igned i n  a 

hur r i ed-up  ceremony because  t h e y  were a f r a i d  t h e  m i s s i l e  was going t o  come 

over  from Cuba o r  something! (M: Heh-heh-heh-heh!) You know! You know, Jack 

Kennedy had a few o t h e r  t h i n g s  on h i s  mind! And s o  d i d  Meyer Feldman and Ted 

Sorensen and a few o f  t h e  o t h e r  guys,  y'know. I used t o  sneak in--not  "sneak" 

i n ,  but I used t o  & i n  t o  Ted 's  o f f i c e  a t  n i g h t  w i t h - - t h i s  was l a t e r  on--

w i t h  t h e  l a t e s t  v e r s i o n ,  y 'know, w h i l e  h e ' s  s i t t i n g  t h e r e  and w r i t i n g  a--a speec 

f o r  J a c k  Kennedy on--on--um--resumption o f  n u c l e a r  t e s t i n g !  (M: nunuum) I woulc 

say  a matter---what more important  (M: more impor tan t !  -chuckles-)  than 

whether o r  not s e c t i o n  blump o f  t h e  Kefauver b i l l  o r  s e c t i o n  blump of t h e  

H a r r i s  b i l l  were t h e  same--huh! Y'know, and Ted used t o  say  t o  me 'You a r e  

(chuckle)  unbe l ievab le !  ' You know. (M: chuckle) And I ' d  l augh ,  you know, and 

and we'd kid about i t  and I ' d  say  ' A l l  r i g h t ,  I know t h a t  n u c l e a r  t e s t i n g  

speeches Eor t h e  P r e s i d e n t  of t h e  United S t a t e s  a r e  i m p o r t a n t . ' - - I  s a i d .  But 

-t h i s  i s  too!'  Y'know. (X: chuckle)  Because, you know, long a f t e r  you s t o p  

testing nuc lea r  d e v i c e s ,  people  a r e  gonna be t a k i n g  d r u g s .  (M: heh-heh-heh) 

and--(chuckle)--um--and Ted would focus on i t ,  b u t ,  y'know, b u t  i t  wasn't t h e  

end o f - - ( i n t e r r u p t i o n - - k n o c k - - S  says  'Yeah, thanks  a l o t . ' )  Uhhm. So where 

was I ?  A l l  r i g h t .  So w i t h  t h a t  type of s e t t i n g  now, w e ' r e  i n t o  t h e  end of Ma: 

You could check t h e  d a t e s  on t h a t .  I - - I ' m - -

11: Well ,  t h e  " s e c r e t "  meeting was i n  June--June 8 t h .  

S :  O K .  I s e e ,  I c a l l e d  t h e  end of May. Yeah. 'Cause you d o n ' t  j u s t  walk 

i n t o  a " sec re t "  meeting (X: r i g h t )  uhhm--you--there--there were some n e g o t i a t i  





lhOw far a?art is the drug industry and HEW?' Okay? And proposed that a 

meetin, tide place to de-ermine thai question. (M: Right.) To determine that 

question--where does the drug industry--on the controversial issues--where does 

HEW stand--where does the drug industry stand? And I would maintain--from the 

beginning--I don't know if it's in The Real Voice or not--but from the beginning 

I maintained that was the only course of action Jimmy Eastland could take--and 

he took it--responsibly and--and--as a good chairman should. Okay? And so, a 

meeting was decided upon. And -I was told by Wilbur to go. T'was my job--to 

go to that meeting--to sit down with--I wasn't exactly certain who was going 

to be there--none of us really were. When you deal with Eastland you sort of 

deal, you know--it was kind of nebulous--'We'll have a meeting, and work this 

stuff out.' Okay? Well that meeting worked itself out--okay? (M: Right.) 

really didn't know who was going to be there--I didn't know names. I knew 


t h ~ t  there would be minority counsel guys there. Uhh--I figured--I really 


didn't have clearlv in my mind who exactly would be there. But it di--I didn't 


-care. I reallv didn't care. My one question to Wilbur was 'Will Blair be 

there--any of the Kefauver people?' 'No.' 'Hum! That's interesting.' But 

-that's all--'That's interesting,' and in my own mind there was nothing peculiar 
about this. (X: Umm.) There's nothing peculiar about this--and I've said to 

Blair, and I've said to Fensterwald--and I almost said it once to Estes him- 

self--'Where is it written that every fuckin' meeting regarding drug safety has 

to have you in it?' Huh! Where is that written! Just because you held two 

years of hearings that means that everytime there's a hearing--that there's a 

meeting on drugs, you gotta be invited? No! (M: Right.) No, I don't think so. 

And Ji-my Eastland didn't think so. And if that puts me in the same category a: 

J i m y  Eastland--great! (41: chuckle) 'Cause I got to know him--and he's quite 

a guy (\!: laugh). He is--he is quite a guy! All right. Uh--uh--so I go to 

this meeting--you know--with real "careful" instructions from Wilbur like--a-- 

I 



'!<ell, you kcow, see where they stand and you know where we stand and see 

what you can work out with 'em. Write a good bill, Jerry.' What the hell 

else can you do! Hurmn~.? M :  i t .  Remember, we aren't privy to or aware 

of or operating on the principle that you come out of the committee with a 

weak bill so you can amend it on the floor. (M: Right.) We are not part of 

that operation. We are working on the proposition that you get as strong a 

bill as possible every step along the way. Okay? I walk into--I go--who's 

gonna go w i t h  me--unnh--who's gonna go with you? 'For Christ sake I gotta 

have somebody, you know, if we're gonna be sitting there with their draftsmen 

and everything else!' 'Well--Ted.' 'Oh. Okay. Ted, you go to the meeting 

with me?' 'All right.' 'Gotta go, Ted.' 'Fine.' 'Winton, you comin' up in 

this meeting with me?' 'No.' Winton'd been at it longer than I had. 

M: So he knew not to go? 


S: That's always been my hunch. Always been my hunch. Okay. Not mine. I 

go where angels fear to tread. (Pi: chuckle) Always have. Always will. 

1 So the more sophisticated guys were--knew just sort of to stay away. 


S: More sophisticated! 


3 :  (laughter) I--I don-- 

S: Bastard! 

2.1: (laugh!) Well, you're sophisticated now! 


S: Like Hell! Like Hell! More sophisticated--yeah--sophisticated in the 

art of not makin' waves. (M: Right.) Yeah. Sophisticated in the art of 'don 

get into any trcuble and don't stick your neck out.' Huh! And we'll wait 

another year--or five--or ten--or twenty--to get our bill passed. (M: Right.) 



!Jell, I don't have that kind of time. (31: Okay.) So that, you k n ~ w ,  there's 

two kinds of sophistication at w ~ r k  here. (H: Right.) hll right. wanted 


to get a drug safety bill out. Okay? And we wanted to do it within the con- 


fines of certain political realities like--Estes Kefauver's a damned good 


friend. Okay? (N: Right.) But still we need a good bill. Into this meeting 


I go. And--Wow! Look at this line-up! (M: chuckle) I'm not surprised when 


I don't see the Kefauver people. But this is a pretty heavy line-up. And I 


go around and I meet all these nice people (X: chuckle)--hah-hah--ahhhh--and 

we start! 


1 :  Could you give me some of the names? I think I know who some of the 

people were. 

S: You tell me who they are! 


S: I have ---to this day--told anybody who was at that meeting. You 

know that? 

X: Well, all I know is what Harris says. 

S :  All right. I have never told anybody and as a matter of fact I'm quoted 

sonewhere as saying--oh, Jack Anderson--I'm quoted in the Jack AndersonlDrew 

Pearson column as saying 'I£you wanta know--you wanta know who goes to a 

party in this town, ask the host--don't ask one of the guests.' (>I: mmmn-numm-

chuckle) Huh! 

>I: Oh yeah. Let's stop. 

S :  Those were tb.e days when it was really hot as to who was there. You know. 

That was--ummm--God!--That was a--that was a major item--'Who was at the meeti; 



1 :  Let's stop a minute. All right. Here is the list of-- 

S: Nhat ~6:e ya on? 


: It's 164--(S: all right)--of who Har+is reports was at the so-called 

( 1secret" meeting. "Sonosky and Ellenbogen (S: right) arrived at the Conference 

Room of the Judiciary Committee. Those present included not only Thomas Collins, 

Eastland's staff director, Peter Chumbris (is that?) (S: go ahead, I'm reading 


with ya) Ronald Raitt, minority counsels of the Subconmittee, but also two men 


from the Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association--Foley, Cutler, and Cutler's 


partner, Marshall Hornblower." Were there others--do you agree with that list? 


(Sonosky nods in agreenent) So that's it. So Harris is right. All right. Go 


ahead. 


S: Okay. And then it started. And we sat down. And we started going over-- 


ycu know--I just read the words and then Sonosky knev he was in for a bad day. 


11: Xmmyeh (chuckle) 

S: You know. Good, bad, indifferent. I had been having bad days for a hell 

of a long time ( X :  chuckle) on this bill! And that's what we did. It was a 

straight leo,islati.ve thing. We went through the bill section by section. Okay? 

(11: Right.) And that was when the industry--that's when we saw for the first 

tim--it really wasn't for the first time--I'm not sure--it was for the first 

tine I ever saw them all in one place--what we would call the 'industry amend- 

ments.' 01: ummh-humh) Okay. And so here we had it for the first time--we 

had S1552--here--oiay? We had the Harris bill--which would be 81 (M: right) 

here--and we had this collection of amendments which you could call, in effect, 

a bill--here. Okay? (M: Right.) And the question before us was--'How does 

two and three relate?' 'Cause what was in my mind was, if I could make two and 

three relate, I'd nlade S1552 relate. 



: And t h e  two and t h r e e  being t h e  EDA/HE!.l b i l l  and t h e  drug amen--

S: --and t h e  anendmer.rs, t h e  c o l ~ e c t i o n  of amendments from t h e  drus  industry.  

I had no problem--see, you have t o  understand t h a t  whenever I was advancing 

t h e  S a r r i s  bill--ummh?--the H51 b i l l - - I  was, i n  my mind, advancing t h e  

Kef auver b i l l .  

Y: Okay 

S: Now t h a t ' s  something t h a t  Kefauver and h i s  s t a f f  never accepted; Har r i s  

never accepted--you know, and t h a t ' s  t h e i r  r i g h t .  But t h a t ' s  what was i n  

%mind about i t .  Icould stren--.  I f  I;could g e t  something from the  Har r i s  

b i l l - - i f  I could ge t  the  drug indus t ry  t o  buy t h e  (chuckle) Har r i s  b i l l ,  huh? 

(X: r i g h t )  I have served t h e  publ ic  i n t e r e s t .  Xuh? (a: r i g h t )  Xhich i s  t h e  

purpose of t h e  Kefauver b i l l ,  i s n ' t  i t ?  (;.I: c e r t a i n l y )  Yeah. Okay. You 

know, those r e a l i t i e s - - t h a t ' s  beside t h e  poin t .  But t h a t ' s  how- tha t ' s  how 

I was funct ion@. Ve met a l l  morning long--ahhh--the b a s i c  d iscussers  were-
Sonosky and--urn--urn--Lloyd Cut le r .  Y'know--we were t h e  two technic ians .  

Ellenbogen vould a s s i s t  ne. We went through then  sec t ion  by sec t ion .  Lunch-

time ar r ived .  fie broke f o r  lunch. (phone r ings )  And had lunch i n  t h e  Senate 

c a f e t e r i a .  (b r i e f  break i n  recording) ,  you know, now I ' v e  s a i d  t h i s ,  I th ink ,  

a  mi l l i on  times--and so I ' l l  j u s t  say i t  again. A guy as  soph i s t i ca t ed  as  

Sonosky who is a t  a s e c r e t ,  c landes t ine  meetinF (Y: chuckle) huh! That he 

shouldn ' t  be a t  (Y: chuckle!) Okay!--doesn't have lunch i n  t h e  Senate Cafeter i  

0::Right. That 's  a good po in t . )  And, y'know, i t ' s  that simple! A s  I th ink  

I s a i d  t o  you on t h e  phone, you know, t h e  "secrecy" of t h e  meeting was the  

facc t h a t  t h e  Kefauver people were not  advised that--of t h e  meeting. Now thar 

was Senator Eas t land ' s  choice : right)--now t h a t  was Senator East land 's  

choice. Ahhh. He was the Chairman of t h e  f u l l  committee. He d i d  not  bel iev,  

t h a t  he had t o  include Kefauver 's people i n  every meeting t h a t  he arranged t o  



tr:i t o  vork out a  b i l l .  SO t h a t  could s a t i s f : ~  h i m e l f  as  chairman as to 

what t h e  h e l l  was going on. Okay? (?I: r i g h t )  As as  a  matter  of f . ic t ,  t h e  

meeting--the purpose of t h e  meetins was not t o  r e l a t e  t h e  Xezauver anendments 

t o  t h e  drug indus t ry  p ro josa l s .  The T;urpose of t h c  meetinq was t o  r e l a t e  t h e  

Har r i s  b i l l  t o  tbose  proposals .  And remenber now t h e  background from t h i s  

whole discussion--= a t t i t u d e  was, and t h e  a t t i t u d e  of HZB was ' I t ' s  about 

-t ime somebody's a sk in '  us about our b i l l ! .  

?I: Right. I t ' s  about t ime somebody got t oge the r  and asked--said (S: yes! yes!) 

' ~ e t ' s  ge t  those--pull t hese  th ings  together! '  

S: Yeah. Yeah. I was a  l i t t l e  t i r e d  of just--of just--of l e t t i n g  Kefauver 

and h i s  staff--uh--advancins t h e  cause of drug s a f e t y  and e f f i c a c y  with his 

b i l l .  (?I: Right.)  And as  F e l b a n  sa id ,  j u s t  looking a t  t h i s  book quickly,  

and as  the  President  s a i d ,  'The Xefauver b i l l  was our veh ic l e .  ' Well, by God, 

i f  i t  was our veh ic l e ,  then we could, then we could, we could determine what 

t h e  h e l l  was--what t h a t  veh ic l e  was made up o f .  And n o t  take--and not  be  put  

i n  the  pos i t i on  of ' t h i s  decide what's--how i s  your vehic le ,  but  ~ ' l l  i t ' s  

nade. '  nuh-uh! tihe= sa id  char was our v e h i c l e ,  t h a t  meant t h a t  we had 

the  r i g h t  t o  chanse i t .  (>I: A 1 1  r i g h t . )  !ie d i d n ' t  have t o  -l i v e  with Kefauver's 

lansuage because i t  wasn't  w r i t t e n ,  God knows, w i th  a  moving f i n g e r  of f i r e  

(?!: chuckle) on a  t a b l e t  of s tone.  (13: chuckle) Okay! And t h a t  was ny 

a t t i t u d e  a t  the  meetin%. (3:  r i g h t )  That 's what I was doin '  t he re .  2 was 

f inding  out--for t h e  f i r s t  time--what the  drug inLus t ry  wanted. See, I knew 

what Kefauver wanted. I M w h a t  HEW and t h e  Kennedy adminis t ra t ion  wanted. 

For the  f i r s t  t ime, I'nf inding  out what the  indus t ry  wanted. Really 

f ind ing  out .  I'n f inding  out  from a damn good lawyer named Lloyd Cutler .  

:1: You have good impressions of Lloyd Cutler? 



S:  Of course! 3 e ' s  a  marvelous lawyer. Xe's a Breat lawyer. -Great lawyer. 

I don ' t  buy t h e  propos i t ion ,  you know, YOL judge guys--. He's a lawyer 

and he was doin '  a job f o r  a c l i e n t .  You j u r t  heard ne go through one where 

I ' m  doin '  a job f o r  oce, too.  I don' t  n e c e s s a r i l y  agree with anything I 

s a i d  t o  t h i s  guy. f : i t .  Cohen speaks very h ighly  of Cut le r ,  too.) Kight 

You know. Yea>. Xow you don ' t  t h i s  bus iness  that--that--Cutler i s  some 

kind of o s re  because he ' s  represent ing  h i s  c l i e n t .  You know. Lloyd Cutler  

was workin' i n  t h e  pub l i c  i n t e r e s t  a  h e l l  of a  l o t  longer--before some of us 

were. You know. But t h a t ' s  bes ide  the  poin t .  Be had a c l i e n t ;  t h a t  c l i e n t  

had a point  of view; he was represent ing  t h a t  po in t  of view. Okay. I ge t  

very gean around t h i s  po in t  i n  t i n e .  You know. I saw Lloyd Cut le r  a t  t h e  

Federal Court House t h e  weekend of the  Martin Luther King r i o t s ,  you know, 

represent ing  indigents  and g e t t i n g  people out  of j a i l  and helping people ge t  

t h e i r  f ami l i e s  together  and everything else--there--I d i d n ' t  s e e  c e r t a i n  other  

lawyers i n  t h i s  toxm there .  : A l l  r i g h t . )  Okay. Aaah--what was I saying? 

And t h a t  nee t ing  went on u n t i l  about 5:30. And t h e  @ s t  of i t  was--was--we 

were being to ld  t h a t  t h i s  i s  what t h e  drug in dust^] wants--this i s  how f a r  

t hey ' r e  w i l l i n g  t o  go. This i s  what they want i n  t h e  b i l l .  GJe would then 

fus s  about i t .  And I ' d  say,  'Tlell, can ' t  you do t h i s ?  And can ' t  you do 

t h a t ? '  And, you know, Cutler  a t  one poin t  s a i d  t o  me something about 'I 

have a c l i e n t ,  J e r r y . '  I sa id  t o  him a t  one po in t  'I j u s t  can ' t  understand 

why you can ' t  buy t h i s .  A s  lawyer t o  lawyer, why can ' t  you buy t h i s ? '  I can' 

renezbet- anymore what i t  was. And h i s  answer was--he has a c l i e n t  and t h e  

c l i e n t  doesn ' t  want t o  buy i t .  (!f: chuckle) And my answer t o  h i s  was I have 

a c l i e n t ,  too. 'Oh, who's t h a t ? '  I s a i d ,  'The people of t h e  United S ta t e s .  

h d ,  I ' n  not s c  arrogant  t o  presune t h a t  I can speak f o r  of then,  but  I'v 

Sot a  hunch t h a t  they won't buy yours. '  Pad t h a t  was my c l i e n t .  Estes  Kefar 

wasn't my c l i e n t .  (Y: Right.) Okay. Well, i t ' s  i n  t h e  aspect  of what we di 



and how we operated t h a t ,  you know, t h a t  Richard H a r r i s  ---I don ' t  think--

I don ' t  know, you know---was represent ing  t h e  p u b l i c  i n t e r e s t .  

11: He obviously--obviously s e e s  i t  a l l  from p r e t t y  much the-- 

:!: --Kefauver po in t  of view. 

S: Like who t h e  h e l l ' s  i n t e r e s t  were we r ep resen t ing?  You know. And I ,  of 

course ,  r e s e n t  s o  much of t h a t .  But t h a t ' s  a l l  r i g h t .  And you can see  t h a t  

12 yea r s  l a t e r  t h a t  resentment s t i l l  shows. 

:!: Umm. That 's  good. 

S: It s t i l l  shows. And I c a n ' t  hel?  i t  i f  people--if--if--I don ' t  i n v i t e  

people i n t o  my m i d  so t h a t  they know exac t ly  every thought I have. But I knc 

God damned w e l l *  I ' m  represent ing  when I ' m  r ep resen t ing  them, (F: r i g h t )  

and I w e n t  i n  t h e r e  t o  cone out  with the  best b i l l  poss ib l e .  

:I: .Ahh. Did you i n f o m  Cohen of what--(S: yeah) of what came ou t .  Did he 

actually--ah--see t h e  amendments and absorb t h e  amendments? 

S: No. 'Cause--because t h e  amendments cou ldn ' t  be seen o r  absorbed u n t i l  tl 

next  weekend--until over t h e  weekend--this was a  Friday.  They couldn ' t  be 

seen o r  absorbed u n t i l  Monday when they were r e p r i n t e d .  And then of fered  a t  

t h e  c o w i t t e e .  And that's when t h e  whole t h i n g  j u s t  unravel led.  (PI: Right.  

Vi th  me-- 

?I: But Cohen was f u l l y  aware of what was going on--what had been hammered c 

more o r  l e s s ?  

S: I n  a very--in a very--no. But i n  a  very--what?--I'm t r y i n g  t o  th ink  of 



1 :  I mean--I can c e r t a i n l y  understand--. He might have been busy and he 

d i d n ' t  s i t  dovm a d  read through t h e  whole anendment-- 

S :  Well, it wasn't  t h a t  s o  much. I d i d n ' t  ge t  back t o  t h e  o f f i c e  'ti1 l i k e  

5:30--or l i k e  6-6:30, and he s a i d ,  'How'd i t  go? '  and, a s  I r e c a l l ,  I j u s t  

s a i d  t o  him, '!Jell, we worked i t  out!' (M: Yeah.) !?ow what I meant by 

,,worked i t  out"  was ' they 've  pot  t h e i r  posi t ion-- they 've got  t h e  votes-- 

now t h a t ' s  t h e  b e s t  I could do. '  (M: A l l  r i g h t . )  'That 's  t h e  b e s t  I could do. 

There 's  one l i t t l e  s e c t i o n  i n  t h e r e  where--if you r e a l l y  want t o  read t h a t  

thing--if t h e  damn h i l l  had passed wi th  i t  t h a t  way, they 'd (FDA) s t i l l  have 

a l l  t h e  Dower they needed. There's somethin' i n  t h e r e  about i f  the f a l s e  and 

misleading--if  any s t a t e n e n t  was f a l s e  and misleading i n  any way, you could hav 

a r e c a l l - - i t  was--there was some c lever  s t u f f  i n  t h e r e .  Vuh. You know. But 

nobody wants t o  g e t  i n t o  t h e  n i t t y - g r i t t y  of t h a t .  Y'know, Har r i s  doesn ' t  

want t o  w r i t e  about t h a t .  There's = l i n e  i n  t h e r e  i n  t h e  indus t ry  b i l l  

t h a t ,  t h a t ,  i f  i t  had been--if -t h a t  had becorre law, t h e  FDA. would have a l l  t h e  

power i t  would need t o  do anything i t  wanted. And Cu t l e r  knew i t ,  and when 

we ca re  back a f t e r  thalidomide wi th  the  new s t u f f ,  Lloyd quickly  took a look 

a t  i t  and he j u s t  looked up a t  me and he s a i d ,  ( S :  chuckle) you know, 'I thoug 

you were r e j e c t i n g  t h e  indus t ry  amendments. I see  you kept  t h a t  l i n e . '  Yeah. 

M: But you don ' t  remember exac t ly  what t h a t  l i n e  was? 

S :  I c a n ' t  remember exac t ly  what t h a t  was. It was--it had t o  do with i f  9 

s t a t e n e n t  was f a l s e  o r  misleading i n  any way, then t h e  t h i n g  was l i k e  "misbra 

You could--it was (M: yeah)--it  was a  nev type  of power t h a t  they d i d n ' t  have 

t h a t  nobody thought of and t h a t  we wrote i n t o  t h a t  ve r s ion  of t h e  b i l l .  (M: 

-Don't ge t  m e  i n  a p o s i t i o n  of defending t h a t  v e r s i o n  of t h e  b i l l ,  'cause I dc 



wanta be i n  t i a t  pos i t i on .  I don ' t  wanta be i n  t h a t  p o s i t i o n .  I don ' t  

-have t o  be. I don ' t  have t o  be. -

M: But your pos i t i on  i s  you d id  t h e  b e s t  you could and t h a t  was the--that 

you f e l t  you'd go t t en  t h e  b e s t  b i l l  you could. 

S :  Ye got  t h e  indus t ry  t o  r e v i s e  some of t h e i r  amendments a s  good a s  poss ib le .  

-One of t h e  t r icks- - the  tricks--heh-heh--when we d i d  t h e  f a c t o r y  inspec t ion  

amendment we got--I j u s t  included food, drug,  cosmetics and t h e r a p e u t i c  devices 

--you know, what t h e  h e l l  d i d  t h e  guys from t h e  PYA ca re?  We walked out  with 

a  b i l l  t h a t  gave us f a c t o r y  in svec t ion  a u t h o r i t y  t h a t  we d i d n ' t  have before we 

walked i n  over a l l  t hese  o t h e r s .  (M: Uh-huh.) Huh! (M: Right . )  Oooh, d id  

t h e  f u r  f l y  i n  those  next few days--when they r e a l i z e d  what the  h e l l  we rode 

o f f  on--boom, boom, boom (If: chuckle)-- that  was a l l  out!  (M: chuckle) I got  

t h a t  i n . .  (M: Right.)  'Cause t h a t  was one of our  i n i t i a l  purposes, i f  you ' l l  

recal l --get t ing--get t ing (M: r i g h t )  t h a t  f a c t o r y  in spec t ion  th ing  i n .  A l l  

r i g h t .  But then -thing unravellec!. I s a i d  th ings  l i k e  'We can l i v e  with 

it . '  I did .  I d id .  I s a i d  t o  J i m  Eastland on the  phone, 'We can l i v e  with i 

S: This would have been over t h e  weekend. (%: L%-huh.) Sure. Sure. I 

suppose Iwas t h e  high admin i s t r a t ion  o f f i c i a l  t h a t  Eas t land  was r e f e r r i n g  t o .  

M: Oh--the--ye--after the--after t h e  blow-up and t h e  Eas t land  (S: yes)-- 

Eas t land  goes t o  the  f l o o r  and he-- 

S: Yes. Yeah. (Sonosky now reads  one of McFadyenrs ques t ions)  'What was y 

p o s i t i o n  on these  amendments--were they acceptable  t o  you?'  A 1 1  r i g h t .  I ' l l  

go r i g h t  down. 'Cause you've got  some good ques t ions  here .  ( reading again) 

'What was your p o s i t i o n  on t h e s e  amendments? Were they acceptable  t o  you 



and the  Department?' No--no. Okay? 

M: To--to you personal ly .  

S:  They weren ' t  acceptable  t o  me and they weren ' t  acceptable  t o  t h e  Department 

M :  To t h e  De?artment. 

S: No. They weren ' t .  But i f  t h a t  was t h e  veh ic l e  t o  ge t  o u t  w i th ,  okay, le t '-
go. I ' m  now ready. Okay. Now, I ' m  ready t o  go t h e  Blair-Fenstenuald route  

--of amend on t h e  f l o o r  and do what we can i n  t h e  House. But wi th  the  stronge: 

b i l l  we poss ib ly  could ge t  out  of t h a t  committee r a t h e r  than t h e  weakest. 

Y: SO you had no--you had in t en t ions  of increas ing  i t - -o r  bouying i t  up--

o r  whatever--later on? 

S: O f  course. The Har r i s  b i l l  was alwavs our b i l l !  This  wasn ' t  our b i l l !  

M: L%-huh. SJell t h a t ' s - - t h a t ' s  i n t e r e s t i n g .  

S: This wasn't  our bill--we had t h i s  "thing" t h a t  we had t o  improve. '1: Uh. 

Our billwas t h e  H a r r i s  b i l l .  Xevei f o r g e t  t h a t .  -
M :  Umh-huh. That 's  a good po in t .  

S :  Because that's a po in t  t h a t  Richard Har r i s  could never g e t  because Richar 

Har r i s  had decided i n  h i s  own mind t h a t  t h e  Har r i s  b i l l  was weaker than t h e  

Kefauver b i l l .  And--and I never--you never could g e t  through t o  him! Never 

could g e t  through t o  him! ( s n i f f )  (X: Umh.) Okay. And t h a t ' s  what--and 

t h a t ' s  where we were a t .  Yeah. I said--I s a i d  t o  Eastland--'We could l i v e  

with i t . '  Damn r i g h t  w e  could l i v e  with i t .  L e t ' s  ge t  o u t  of  h e r e  with the  

b e s t  b i l l  we can. Doesn't mean t h a t  t h a t  was acceptable  t o  us. ; h a t  was 

acceptable  t o  us i s  answered i n  wr i t i ng  i n  t h e  H a r r i s  b i l l  i n  the  House. 3 



--- 

the  b i l l  t h a t  was acceptable  t o  us. 

4 :  Okay. Could we move on t o  the--ah-- 

S :  ( reading again)  'What was your reason f o r  be ing  a t  t h e  Subconmittee meeting 

where t h e  amendments were presented? (?I: Right . )  Well ,  I was t o l d  t o  come 

back. Yeah. (Y: Right .) You know. A l l  r i g h t ,  ( reading  again) 'What was 

HE\!'s p o s i t i o n  on Eastland-Dirksen amendments? Had you shown them t o  Cohen?' 

Yeah. You know. But not t h a t  Friday n igh t  because I r e a l l y  d i d n ' t  have them. 

What I had Friday n igh t  were the  drug amendments una l t e red .  Ah--I'm sorry--

t h e  drug i n d u s t r v  amendments unal tered.  (H: Umh.) I was a b l e  t o  walk away 

w i t h  those .  T h a t ' s  t h a t  g r e a t  Jack Anderson column about (X: r i g h t )  me being 

David a g a i n s t  t h e  Gol ia ths  and what I did--I had a l l  these  (F: chuckle) papers 

and I s a i d  'Oh, what a  messy room.' and we picked up a l l  the  papers and 

walked out  and I had t h e i r  o r i g i n a l  amendments. (?I: chuckle) Yhich made 

them a l i t t l e  uncomfortable--I don't  know how u n c o d o r t a b l e .  (?I: chuckle) 

(S reading again)  'Who was t h e  "high o f f i c i a l "  on 231 t h a t  Eas t land  spoke t o  

who said "HEW favored t h e  b i l l ? " '  -I was t h e  "high o f f i c i a l "  on--I 

I ' l l  never  know. Let  me say this--1'11 never know. I th ink  I was. (M: Did--

did--) I don't t h ink  I s a i d  HE?: favored t h e  b i l l ;  I t h i n k  I s a i d  words l i k e  

'We can -with i t . '  (?I: Yeah.) Huh: 'We can  l i v e  wi th  i t . '  I th ink  

t h a t ' s  how t h a t  t h i n g  cane out .  

1 :  The--the reason t h a t  t h i s  i s  important is because i n  t h e  committee meeting 

when these  anendments are--begin t o  be presented ,  H a r r i s  d e p i c t s  t h e  scene a s  

--as Kefauver turn ing  t o  you and saying 'What's HEW'S p o s i t i o n  on t h i s  b i l l ? '  

and you s a i d ,  'we l l ,  1 ' m  j u s t  a technic ian . .  . ' - - sor t  of thing-- 'I 'm n e i t h e r  

f o r  i t  o r  a g a i n s t  i t . '  So he goes out  and c a l l s  Cohen and Cohen says 'What 

amendments? I don' t  know what you're t a lk ing  about . '  

S: Wilbur was t e l l i n g  t h e  t r u t h  a t  t h a t  p o i n t .  He r e a l l y  hadn ' t  seen then  



-- 

I 

because t h e  Eirst Isaw ' en  was t h a t  morning. (I!: Yeah.) Yeah. The f i r s t  

I s a w  ' en  w a s  t h a t  morning. Xilbur--when Wilbur s a i d  'Vhat amendments? 

d o n ' t  know what you're  t a l k i n s  about . '  he was t e l l i n g  t h e  t r u t h  'cause he 

hadn ' t  seen them. -I hadn' t  seen 'em. Kefauver was s o  convinced s t a r t i n g  

from t h e  3e a r l i e s t  times--and t h a t ' s  why t h a t  e a r l y  h i s t o r y  was important 

-- that  v7e were double-crossing him and screwing him and everything e l s e  

(M: uh-huh) t h a t  he immediately assumed t h a t  we  a l l  had copies  of i t ,  we a l l  

knew e x a c t l v  what was going t o  happen. I l e f t  t h e  meeting a t  5:30 on a 

Friday af te rnoon and s a i d  'Good-by, gentlemen.' I took a bunch of s t u f f  

home wi th  me. I went home. I d idn ' t  know t h a t  on Monday morning I was gonna 

show up--I was gonna come t o  another  meeting of t h e  committee and t h a t  these  

amend~en t s  would be p r in t ed  up i n  a b i l l  form--okay?--and being presented t o  

t h e  co rmi t t ee  a s  soaething t h a t  had been approved by HZW. Xo, I d id  n o t  

know t h a t .  

M: So--so youwere kind of caught off guard,  t oo .  

S: You be tcha .  (If: Yeah.) You betcha. And I had no i n s t r u c t i o n s  from 

anyone on what t o  do s o  I s a i d  I was a t echn ic i an .  (X: Right . )  Yeh. I had 

no i n s t r u c t i o n s .  I d i d n ' t  know what t o  do a t  t h a t  poin t .  Well. 

: O f  course,  1 've  asked Cohen about a l l  t h i s  and he kind of put--& doesn ' t  

remember a  whole lot--or--or-- 

S :  He wouldn't .  (M: Yeah. Right.) He wouldn't. 

M: Right .  He says  t h a t  Kefauver threw him off  when he asked about the  amend 

ments--that--

S :  And Wilbur had no i d e a  what t h e  man was t a l k i n g  about .  (M: Yeah. Yeah.) 

Because he  had never seen then; I had never seen  'en. (2.1: Right . )  I l e f t  a 



meeting where rhe re  were a bunch of papers wi th  s c r i b b l i n g s  on them. Uh-huh. 

: g h .  I came t o  a meeting Monday morning and I found mimeographed page 

a f t e r  page a f t e r  page of those  s c r i b b l i n g s  put  down i n  amendment form. 

1 :  Vho do you suppose prepared those--the drug indus t ry  o r  Eas t l and ' s  o f f i c e ?  

S :  Oh probably. Yeah. And together--the s t a f f  guys and t h e  lawyers.  Yeah. 

PX4 opera t ion .  Sure. That ' s  not  hard. (?I: Right . )  Yeah. Yeah, y'know, 

t h a t ' s  h o ~i t ' s  -done. That ' s  how i t ' s  done. So Cohen is--when--when--and 

when Kefauver h i t  h i=  with these  amendments and I found ' e m  on my desk t h i s  

morning, Wilbur d i d n ' t  know what he was t a l k i n g  about! Wilbur had n--. Wilbur 

d i d n ' t  know what he  was t a l k i n '  about! And I always s a i d  t o  John B l a i r  when 

we a t tended t h e  eu logies  f o r  Kefauver a f t e r  he  d i e d ,  John and I were s i t t i n '  

t h e r e  toge the r  and I turned t o  him and I s a i d ,  'You know, t h e  -r e a l  tragedy 

w a s  t h a t  w e  would never t a l k  t o  one another . '  (M: Unh-huh.) That Es t e s  was 

always ready t o  say t h a t  t h e  Kennedy a d n i n i s r r a t i o n  screwed him_. Like t h a t  

John S l a i r  was always ready t o  say  t h a t  Sonosky screwed him. 

M: Why do you t h i n k  Kefauver was t h a t  way? Tias there-- 

S: Because h e  was a man who got  screwed everyt ime he turned around (M: chucklc 

--in American p o l i t i c s  and he f igu red  i t  was s t i l l  goin '  on! (X: Ci-huh.) 

Yeah. So he was a l i t t l e  paranoid on t h e  s u b j e c t .  (M: Yeah. --chuckle) And 

I d o n ' t  nean t h a t  i n  terms of he was nuts--he was convinced t h a t  nobody gave 

a damn f o r  E s t e s  Kefauver and he was, by God, gonna--he was tired of i t !  

(3: Right . )  And I don ' t  blame him! (Y: Yuh.) But he assumed a l l  the  time 

you were wrong. I s a i d  t o  him when he  was s t i l l  a l i v e  and we were recounting 

t h e s e  ep isodes  and we were laughing about i t ,  I s a i d ,  'You know, i f  you had 

only grabbed % b y  t h e  s e a t  of my pants  and dragged me o u t  of t h e  room and 

s a i d  "God d m  i t ,  J e r r y ,  what happened?" I coulda t o l d  ya!' (N: Umh.) 'I 



- ---- 

would of t o l d  ya! I would have s a i d ,  "Well, Senator ,  t h i s  i s  what hapoened." 

(?I: chuckle) And you could have walked back i n t o  t h e  room, huh:, put  your 

f e e t  up on t h e  desk and s a i d ,  "Oh. This--this i s  nothin!"' 

M: The t h i n g t h a t  su rp r i sed  me-- 

S: But I s a i d ,  'Butcha d idn ' t : '  

: Yeh. The th ing  t h a t  s u r p r i s e s  me--that e i t h e r  you o r  Cohen d i d n ' t  r e a l i z e  

t h a t  :<efauver was going t o  be  r e a l l y  shocked by what was going on. 

S: I d i d n ' t  know t h a t  t h e r e  was gonna be a document t h e r e  t o  shock him! 

I?: Yeah. Yea5. And t h e  way Cohen put  i t  t o  m e  was, he  s a i d  t h a t  something 

went wrong and t h a t  Dirksen was t h e  one--no--yeh--that (S:  r i g h t )  Dirksen 

was t h e  one who presented t h e  amendment--is t h a t  t r u e ?  

S: Of course. Of course. 

M: And Cohen s a i d  t h a t  t h a t  was a mistake because t h e  minute t h a t  Dirksen 

made these  amendments--and of course Refauver was gonna know--oh boy--

S: That ' s  a good p o h t .  That ' s  a good po in t .  Well, !Jilbur's say in '  t h a t  

(X: A more n e u t r a l  person--) thev made---made t h e  t a c t i c a l  e r r o r  (M: yeah: 

Well--no--well, they made a t a c t i c a l  e r r o r .  What they should have done was 

Senator  East land should have s t a r t e d  the  meeting o f f  with a--'Well, Gentlemen 

h e r e ' s  where we ' re  a t . '  (M: Yeah.) And, 'On Friday M r .  Sonosky t h e r e  and 

Mr. Ellenbogen came up, and gentlemen, I support  these  amendments and h e r e  t h  

a re .  Xow l e t ' s  go through these . '  But no; i t  was done another  way. Dirksen 

presented  them. (X: Yeh.) ~oom!  Kefauver went off l i k e  a rocket!  And I s~ 

t h e s e  words t o  @, d i r e c t l y .  

M: To Kefauver? 



S :  Yes. Before he d ied .  And then John and I t a lked  about i t  t h a t  af ternoon 

of h i s  eulogy. I f  we had j u s t  ta lked  together :  A t  t h a t  moment i n  time! But, 

my God: By t h a t  t ime,  I was s i t t i n g  i n  t h e  room l i t e r a l l y  going l i k e  th is - - I  

can remember l a t e r  kinda goin '  l i k e  t h i s  a s  i f  " t a l k  t o  me" (S says t h i s  i n  a  

loud whisper) .  They wouldn't 'cause they knew--- were t h e  ( s lap : )  r ighteous  

ones. They were t h e  ( s lap! )  prouer  ones. They were t h e  ones who were defending 

t h e  public!  That was t h e i r  mistake. It was an arrogance of power s i t u a t i o n  

t h a t  was unbel ievable.  I t  happens t o  a l l  of us.  It happens t o  a l l  of us.  They 

were so convinced t h a t  they were g e t t i n '  screwed by a  bunch of guys who they 

d i d n ' t  t r u s t  t h a t  by God they d i d n ' t  have t o  t a l k  t o  anybody. They t h a t  

Meyer Feldman was screwin '  them and t h a t  J e r r y  Sonosky was screwin'  them and 

t h a t  Wilbur Cohen and HEX and everybody e l s e .  Haven't they been g e t t i n '  screwed 

a l l  these  yea r s?  (?I: heh-heh-heh-heh-heh) Huh? (Y: Yeah.) F7here I was 2 

t h e r e  t r y i n '  t o  do exac t ly  what they were t r y i n g  t o  do. And t h a t  was t h e  

tragedy of i t .  By % i t  was too l a t e .  By then  i t  was too l a t e .  He goes 

off  on t h e  f l o o r  of t h e  Senate;  a t t a c k s  me by name; and i t  doesn ' t  show up i n  

t h e  Congressional Record now because it was e d i t e d  out  (?I: oh).  Sure. Yeah. 

Ribbon c l e r k  and--by name (X: yeah)--ribbon c l e r k  'n j un io r  grade--ytknow--all 

t h a t  crap-- 

M: So he--on t h e  f l o o r  he a t tacked you by name? 

S: But he took it out  l a t e r .  He was very mad. Kefauver had a--Kefauver had 

a temper. He was very mad. Yeah. That ' s  a l l  r i g h t .  Like Johnny C a r r o l l  

s a i d  t h e  next  day--'If you can ' t  a t t a c k  your f r i e n d s ,  who can you a t t a c k ? '  

(?I: long chuckle--Yeah.) Umh--umh--it was kind of a  t raumat ic  experience f o r  

a  32-year-old k i d .  

M: I ' m  s u r e  i t  vas.  



S: ~ut--uh--uh--

I d i d n ' t  know he a t tacked you by name. 

S :  oh, yes.  

I knew you could e d i t  s t u f f  out  of t h e  Conzressional  Record--but-- x: 

S:  hat's a l l  r i g h t .  That was fun. That was almost fun.  Urn--why, ~ ~ h y ,  

know, you've got  such good quest ions we can--you know--what went--then 

Tqhat went on, you know--Boom! The s h i t  h i t  t h e  fan! Right? (?1: chuckle) 

~h--uh--(reading M ' s  question)--'What went on i n  HEV and admin i s t r a t ion  

between " s e c r e t  meetingw and ~ i b i c o f f ' s  appearances before  House Subcorni t tee  

i n  which he denounced t h e  b i l l ? '  He d i d  =ore than denounce t h e  b i l l - - t h a t  

was great--we've g o t t a  g e t  back t o  t h a t .  \\%at went on was very  s imple.  Using 

S1552 a s  t h e  v e h i c l e  has  f a i l e d .  (H: Urn-huh.) We now r e v e r t  back t o  where we 

should have been maybe r i g h t  from t h e  beginning. And l e t ' s  r i d e  11581. 

M: HE:.7/FDA b i l l .  

S :  Umh. Ile t r i e d .  We t r i e d  and we f a i l e d .  

M: Why? 

S: We t r i e d  an experiment i n  l e g i s l a t i o n .  We t r i e d  t o  do something d i f f e r e n t .  

I t  f a i l e d .  It  f a i l e d .  It f a i l e d  because of t h e  intrangi-- intrangi--  --what? 

H: In t rans igence .  

S :  --of a l l  t h e  p z r t i e s .  Nobody was w i l l i n g  t o  z ive .  Kefauver wasn't  w i l l i n g  

give anything;  t h e  drug indus t ry  wasn't  w i l l i n g  t o  g ive  anything;  and, deep 

dam, I wasn ' t  w i l l i n g  t o  g ive  anything, e i t h e r .  

sad--had Refauver 's  explosion s o r t  of scared  you off  from t h e  Eastland-Dirk 



so-ca l led  amendments--that came out  of t h e  " sec re t "  meeting? 

S: L i s t e n ,  we were never on 'em. '.!e were never on 'em. There wasn't  a 

ques t ion  of being--his s c a r i n '  us o f f .  Ve never  r e a l l y  were on 'em. I 

s a i d  we c o u l t  l i v e  wi th  'en. We sai--yeah--I was t h e  "high o f f i c i a l . "  -I was 

t h e  one t h a t  Morton Mintz was quoting i n  t h e  Washington post-- that  was me--

I was t h e  l i g h t n i n g  rod. (?I: Cnh-huh.) We accepted--Iwas t h e  one--so I 

took the  shit--from a few. But not  from many. But--- i n  my mind was 

t h a t  our b i l l !  That--that was a b i l l  t o  go out  on t h e  f l o o r  wi th .  

M: Yeah. Yeah. My problem i s  that--and I s e e  now t h a t  I ' m  o f f  base--is 

t h a t  i t  appeared t h a t  HEW a c c e ~ t e d  t h a t  b i l l  (S; accepted t h a t  b i l l l a n d  then 

you reversed  your se l f .  (S: That ' s  r i g h t ,  t h a t ' s  r i g h t . )  Ummh. 

S: Yeah. Tha t ' s  OK. That sorne--as Xbe Ribicoff  said--some c l e r k ,  some 

t echn ic i an  (? I :  chuckle).  C'mon. (?l: with chuckle Some r ibbon clerk!)  No. 

You know. He said-- that-- that  was some technician--he couldn ' t  speak f o r  

t h e  Department. 

: But of course--of course- - tha t ' s  unfair--

S: He was right--a--I--huh? 

M:  T h a t ' s  u n f a i r  t o  put  i t  o f f  on you, because t h e y ' r e  t h e  ones t h a t  t o l d  

you--

S: So what. 

M: They're t h e  ones t h a t  t o l d  you t o  go ahead and do-- 

S :  So what--unfair--you knov! : h a t ' s  u n f a i r .  That ,  t h a t ' s  n o t  s o  u n f a i r .  

I f  I could have--if I could have w r i t t e n  a good b i l l  (X: eah) wi th  the  drus  

i n d u s t r y ,  i t  would have been--the--we would have been--then i t  would have 



been f a i r .  (Y: -411 r i g h t . )  Eahhh--come on. T h a t ' s  your job.  (X:  Right.)  

That 's your job. And you have t o  ge t  out  of i t  a s  b e s t  you can s o  Ribicoff 

,,id '!fiat high o f f i c i a l  i n  t h e  Department s a i d  w e  v e r e  f o r  t h e  b i l l ?  As I 

,derstmd i t  some technic ian  i n  the  l e g i s l a t i v e  o f f i c e  s a i d  t h a t . '  That 

s e !  (:f: chuckle) Me! That was me. And Abe cane back from t h a t  meeting 

and he s a i d  'Guess what I s a i d  about you today!' 

?I: Oh, d id  he r e a l l y  say t h a t ?  

S: O'n, come on! !?hy, of course. Why, of course. (?!: chuckle) You know, t h e  

answer t o  a l o t  of it was--came on Thanksgiving Day of 1962 when t h e  then 

Senator-elect from Connecticut c a l l e d  t h a t  t echn ic i an  and asked him t o  go up 

on the  g i l l  wi th  h i n  and be h i s  l e g i s l a t i v e  a s s i s t a n t .  

M: That was you. 

?I: And you were h i s  l e g i s l a t i v e  a s s i s t a n t  f o r  a whi le?  

S: Yes. And I ran h i s  Subcommittee t h a t  d i d  t h e  a u t o  s a f e t y  t h i n g  (It: oh, 

t h a t ' s  r i g h t )  and t h e  p e s t i c i d e  th ing  and t h e  urban c r i s i s  t h i n g  (Y: yeah, 

t h a t ' s  r i g h t ) .  Yeak. Same guy. 

M: Yeah. T h a t ' s  i n t e r e s t i n g .  Yeah. 

S :  YOU know. Abe understood what was going on. Wilbur 's  being p e r f e c t l y  candid 

with you when he says  he--when Kefauver h i t  him, Wilbur di--Vilbur had no idea--

= hadn ' t  been ab le  t o  ge t  t o  a phone t o  t e l l  him--what was coming. That 's  my 

point .  Kefauver roared out  l i k e  a b u l l .  You know. And got  a choice of 

phones a Senator  g e t s  f i r s t .  (M: heh-heh-heh-heh-heh) Sure. Kefauver had 

'ilbur on t h e  phone before  I could ge t  t o  Willjur. Kefauver had t h e  White House 



on t h e  phone before  we could ge t  t o  t h e  White House. 

X:  Right.  So Kefauver thought he was being double-crossed. 

S: Of course. And h e ' s  screaming and y e l l i n g  a t  HEX and a t  the  White House 

about t h ings  t h a t  t hese  guys d i d n ' t  know anything about! (M: P.11 r i g h t . )  

Because Ihad n o t  repor ted  t o  them t h a t  t h e r e  was i n  f a c t  a b i l l .  A l l  w r i t t e n-

up t h a t  Eastland--that Dirksen was proposing and t h a t  Eas t land  was saying HEW 

suppor ts  it! (voice r i s e s  and has an edge of l augh te r ! )  (Y: chuckle)--on the  

b a s i s  of th ings  I sa id !  (M: A l l  r i g h t . )  How'd you l i k e  t o  be i n  them shoes! 

(3:Whewww--I can imagine! Heh-heh. Beine about t h e  age you were then.) 

(Sonosky s ighs )  (M: Oh boy!) H o ~ ' d  you l i k e  t o  have--how'd y a  l i k e  t o  ge t  

a phone c a l l - - a l l  t h i s  i s  goin '  on and--it 's  your o l d  f r i e n d  Jack Anderson. 

And I mean o ld  f r i e n d .  (M: A h ,  boy.) Okay? Jack  Anderson says ,  'Who was a t  

t h a t  meet ing? '  

?I: What--what l i d  you t e l l  him? 

S: I t o l d  him, 'Why don ' t  you ask J i m y ? '  --'Now, J e r r y ,  you know I can ' t  do 

that--he won't t e l l . '  

1 :  Heh-heh-heh. And you s a i d  ' I  won't t e l l  e i t h e r ? '  

S:  I s a i d ,  'Well, I ' l l  t e l l  you something. There ' s  an o ld  r u l e  i n  Northern 

Minnesota pol i t ics--and soc ie ty .  I f  you wanta know who was a t  a par ty ,  ask 

t h e  hos t . '  (M: Heh-heh.) hat's when I used that-- that--  

M: hat's a good q-uote-- 

S :  That 's  when I used t h a t  line--wanta know who's a t  a p a r t y ,  ask the  hos t .  

I ' m  not--and then I got  h i t  with 'Your--my--my c a r e e r  a t  s t ake . '  You know, 

t h e r e ' s  a l o t  of t h i n g s  t h a t  go on i n  t h i s  town. And I--and I j u s t  s a i d ,  



'Look, I know t h a t  I--what I d i d  was the  b e s t  I could do. And I know t h a t  

what I was do in '  was i n  the  b e s t  i n t e r e s t s  of everybody and someday y o u ' l l  

a l l  f i n d  ou t .  I don ' t  know how, but someday y o u ' l l  a l l  f i n d  ou t .  And I s a i d ,  

'And a l l  you have t o  go on, Jack,  i s  if you can r e a l l v  b e l i e v e ,  knowing me f o r  

as  long a s  you've knorm m e ,  and knowing what I ' v e  done, with B la tn ik ,  and i n  

my ca ree r  a s  j u s t  a  young guy i n  t h i s  town--if you can hones t ly  be l i eve  t h a t  

a t  -t h i s  s t a g e  of my l i f e ,  I have so ld  out  t o  t h e  drug indus t ry ,  then  w r i t e  i t .  

M :  Ummh. Obviously, t h e r e  w a s  a  very c l o s e  r e l a t i o n s h i p  between Jack Andersor 

and Kef auver. 

S:  And Kefauver. (!I: Yeah.) Very c lose .  Yeall. 'Jery c lose .  Very c l o s e  

r e l a t i o n s h i p  between Drew Pearson (E: Drew Pearson. Right.)  and Kefauver. 

Very c lose  r e l a t i o n s h i p  between Drew Pearson and John B la tn ik  (M: ah-hah). An 

my l a s t  l i n e s  to  those  people was 'And I can only advise  you t o  do one th ing .  

-You c a l l  John B la tn ik  and you t e l l  John vha t  t h i s  i s  and you ask John t h e  key 

question--"You know J e r r y  b e t t e r  than anyone e l s e  i n  t h i s  town. Would he 

purposely go out wi th  i n s t r u c t i o n s  or  not with  i n s t r u c t i o n s  and s e l l  out  t h e  

public?" '  

M: Right.  

S: A l l  I know is tha t - - tha t  Jack Anderson c a l l e d  and what followed was t h a t  

t h e  Young David took on t h e  Gol ia th  and came o u t  of i t  p r e t t y  good ( M :  uh-huh 

Uh-huh. You knsw, I j u s t  re-read i t  t h e  o t h e r  day and t h a t ' s  t h e  way i t  was. 

And t h a t ' s  t h e  way i t  was. So--um--you know, between t h e  "secre t"  meeting 

and R i b i c o f f ' s  appearance i t  was j u s t  'Okay. A l l  b e t s  a r e  o f f . '  Huh? A l l  

b e t s  a r e  o f f .  Everything i s  thrown i n t o  a--into a ki l ter--and we go with tht 

Har r i s  b i l l .  A l l  r i gh ty .  (M: Right.) And I'm s t i l l  r e a l l y  upse t .  You knor 

t h i s  thing--you know--a & l e g i s l a t i v e  scheme r e a l l y  blew a p a r t .  And i t  : 



a great--it--:t--it coulda worked. And one day i n  J u l y ,  one Sunday i n  

J u l y ,  I go d o ~ m  and I 3 e t  t h e  Sunday Post and I see--a s t o r y .  Heh. And I 

came i n t o  work t h e  next  morning and I walked i n t o  this--you know--I d i d n ' t  

have t o  walk i n .  He was t h e r e  w a i t i n '  f o r  m e .  The Secre tary  wanted t o  

see  me and I valked i n  and Abe and I looked a t  each o t h e r  and--I know t h i s  

sounds a l i t t l e ,  y'know, t h i s  g e t s  a l i t t l e - - b u t  when you're  do in '  r i g h t ,  

Dick, huh!, t h i n g s ' l  happen t o  make s u r e  t h a t  t h e  r i g h t  happens. Huh! 

X: Nha--what s t o r y  was i t  t h a t  you saw? 

S : Thalidomide . 

?I: n igh t .  That ' s  what I thought.  

S: Thalidonide. Now, t o  t h e  weak-hearted, t ha l idon ide  would mean--thalidomide 

would mean, y'knori, d i s a s t e r  f o r  us. We were t h e  ones t h a t  were f o r  t h a t  weak 

b i l l :  

X: Right.  

S: YOOO. I took t h a t  thalidomide and I turned it j u s t  l i k e  t h i s  and s a i d ,  

! 1This ( s l aps  t a b l e )  i s  what we've been t a l k i n '  about! (X: A l l  r i g h t . )  Drug 

saf!Not drug p r i ces !  : A l l  r i g h t .  ( s l a p s  t a b l e )  i s  what we've -
been t a l k i n '  about--the inadequacy of our  laws t o  p r o t e c t  us from th ings  l i k e-
this--= p a t e n t s .  Not pa t en t s .  Because under t h e  Kefauver pa t en t  b i l l ,  

thalidomide would be on t h e  market! Boom: And these are t h e  th ings  we've 

been worrying about--and that's what we've been concent ra t ing  on. iJow, l a d i e s  

and gentlemen, can we f i n a l l y  put  our house i n  o r d e r  and s t a r t  dea l ing  with 

drug l e g i s l a t i o n  t h e  way i t  should be?" That ' s  v h a t  thalidomide d i d .  Huh! 

(X: Right . )  And I ' l l  never  know--because John B l a i r  w i l l  never a d n i t  i t  t o  

ze--but I ' v e  always wondered i f  thalidomide d i d n ' t  f o r c e  John t o  back up a 



bit--because he could hear  Sonosky screanine  'Do you s t i l l  want t o  t a l k  

about drug eff icacy--or  you wanta t a l k  about s a f e t y ?  Do you want t o  t a l k  

about t h e  REji b i l l  o r  do you wanta t a l k  about p a t e n t s ? '  There was no 

ques t ion  of what people wanted t o  t a l k  about a f t e r  Thalidomide. (3:Right.)  

And now we were back i n  =--what's t h e  word?--milieu. (X: Right . )  Now we 

were back where we knew what we were do in '  and we had t h e  b i l l  t o  do some-

th ing  about i t .  

M: Right.  Well, why--then why these  amendments? 

S: Which anendments now? 

: These a r e  amendments tha t - - tha t  ev iden t ly  the--the president-- the White 

House--or somebody ordered. 

S: A l l  r i g h t .  ( reads from X's ques t ion  shee t )  'Soon t h e r e a f t e r  White 


House o rde r s  r e v i s i o n  i n  Senate b i l l .  Why d id  admin i s t r a t ion  reverse  i t s e l f ?  


Had i t  o r i g i n a l l y  supported Eastland-Dirksen?'  Ruh? 


! I :  You alrea--1 was going t o  say you had a l ready answered t h a t .  

S: Yeah. Yezh. You know. A t  no time di--were--was the  so-cal led East land 

Dirksen amendn-ents ever  supported. The adminis t ra t ion  d i d  r eve r se  i t s e l f  

Read Kennedy very c a r e f u l l y .  That was a g r e a t  one. That was a g r e a t  one. 

Kennedy says--ah--ah--did 1 t e l l  you t h i s  s t o r y ?  We go t o  t h e  Vhite  House. 

The P res iden t  i s  gonna have a p re s s  conference and t h e  sub jec t  is gonna be 

thalidomide and (laughs)--and I ' m  t o l d  'Keep your mouth s h u t '  because what 

I wanted t h e  Pres ident  t o  do is s t a r t  t h e  p r e s s  conference off  by saying 

'Open your m e d k i n e  c a b i n e t s  and look t h e r e i n  and take out  any unmarked drugs 

Everybody s a i d  'NO. '  The Surgeon General s a i d  'no. '  La r r i ck  s a i d  'no. '  Eve 

body s a i d  no. And s o  we're with t h e  President--we're wi th  Jack  Kennedy. We' 



got t h e  amendments i n  f r o n t  of us. Because, remerioer t h i s ,  I then work 

a l l  n i g h t ,  see .  Tie then work a l l  n ight .  %at  d i d  I do? Very simple--I 

out  a bill.(:I: Right.)  Okay! (?I: S",t.) I t ake  t h e  Senate Judicary b i l l ,  

with Ellenbogen, and we work a l l  n i e h t  amending t h a t  b i l l  t o  conform t o  the  

took t h e  Senate bill--remer?ber, the  Senate J u d i c i a r y  Conmittee has now repor te  
0 
a 
2 
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Har r i s  b i l l !  h d ,  Dick, Har r i s  s t i l l  doesn ' t  understand t h a t .  

?I: But d i d n ' t  you t ake  some of t h e  provis ions  f r o n  Refauver 's  b i l l ?  

S :  Of course! 

?I: Right.  

S :  Of course.  And you can say t o  Winton Rankin ' L i s t e n ,  

o 'c lock i n  t h e  morning ...' and I come t o  t h e  par t - - I  come 

man, i t ' s  one 

t o  t h e  adve r t i s ing  

s e c t i o n  and we--now we ' re  adve r t i s ing .  Okay. Dankin says--':,Jell, we don ' t  

have any a d v e r t i s i n g  s o  you g o t t a  take t h a t  o u t . '  I s a i d ,  'I propose we taka 

t h e  a d v e r t i s i n g  s e c t i o n  of t h e  Kefauver b i l l  and pu t  i t  i n t o  our  b i l l . '  

you Can' t  do t h a t ! '  'Why c a z ' t  we do t h a t ? '  'Because t h e  Federa l  Trade 

'Oh 

Commission 

Over who's 

ane FDA have been f i g h t i n g  over t h e  s u b j e c t  s i n c e  1940 (M: r i g h t )  

got  j u r i s d i c t i o n .  Huh? (?.I: Right . )  And ye c a n ' t  so lve  t h a t .  

(Pi: Right.)  We need an order  from t h e  Bureau of t h e  Budget--the Bureau of 

t h e  Budget's g o t t a  so lve  t h a t . '  Pnd I j u s t  looked a t  h i 2  and I s a i d ,  'I te: 

you what, Winton. You got--well, you got  two choices--( l )  i t ' s  one o 'c lock  

i n  t h e  morning--pick up t h e  phone and c a l l  E s t e s  Kefauver o r  John B l a i r  and 

t e l l  him--tell  - them--that you a r e  not accept ing t h e  a d v e r t i s i n g  sec t ion  of 

--which t h e  Senate Jud ic i a ry  Conmittee has approved!' (X: Right . )  --Becau 

we have a minor l i t t l e  d i f f i c u l t y  wi th  t h e  Bureau of t h e  Sudget (X: heh-hek 

--'You c a l l  them up and you t e l l  then t h a t , '  I s a i d ,  'and i f  you don ' t  do t 

i n  t h e  next  two minutes,  i t ' s  i n  t h e  b i l l .  Now which way do we go? (M: 1; 



And Ellenbogen--and then we had l i k e  a  vote--see, t h a t ' s  how we wrote t h e  

b i l l .  bJe'd say  'Vhat do we do? :*at's t h e  best c o l l e c t i v e  judgment?' 

1 :  So it was the  t h r e e  of you--Ellenbogen, Rankin and yourself-- 
L 

a 
2 

S: Rankin and Sonosky. Yeah. I ' m  p r e t t y  s u r e  t h e r e  was only t h e  t h r e e  of us. z 

I :  Right.  

S: Of course ,  I picked up & the good--listen, I picked up a& the  good 

from t h e  o r i g i n a l  Kefauver b i l l - -a& the  good from t h e  (chuckle) b i l l  t h a t  

w a s  repor ted  out  of t h e  Senate Finance Committee--- the--the--the Har r i s  

bill--and put  i t  a l l  together--that night--and had i t  de l ivered  t o  t h e  

White House a t  one o 'c lock  i n  the  morning-see t h e  one o 'c lock  i n  t h e  morning 

I ' m  t a l k i n g  about is t h e  previous n ight .  (N: F.ight.) I n  o t h e r  words, we 

worked n i g h t ,  s t a r t i n g  around four--we worked a l l  night--(sigh)--and 

then i n t o  t h e  next  6ay. And i t  was l i k e  one o ' c lock  i n  t h e  morning when 

they were f i n a l l y  de l ive red .  (?I: P.ight.) But t h a t  was after a nee t ing  with 

t h e  P r e s i t e n t  and--and--that's when I got my l i t t l e  two cents  i n  and--and-- 

I thought t h e s e  s e n i o r  guys would d i e  when I s a i d  something l i k e  'of course,  

what I would do i s  t e l l  everyboAy t o  look i n  t h e i r  medicine cabinet! '  The 

P res iden t  j u s t  looks a t  me--1'11 never f o r g e t  i t .  

?I: He did say  t h a t  a t  one poin t .  

S: I t ' s  how he s t a r t e d  t h e  davn press  conference! (X: heh-heh-heh-heh-heh) 

Iiuh! And we doubled over  laughing! You know, 'cause a l l  t h e  sen io r  guys 

a d v i s i n s  t h e  President--and he ' s  l i s t e n i n g .  You know--oh, Kennedy could 

l i s ten- - 'unh ,  thank you very much.' You krow, 'Unh, thank you very much.' 

And I ' m  s t a n d k g  t h e r e  and I ' m  helping with t h e  d r a f t i n g  of a l e t t e r  and thl 

one g r e a t  l i t t l e  inter lude-- the l e t t e r  sa id- - th is  i s  t h e  cover l e t t e r  t o  



East land  wi th  t h e  arrendments. ( M :  Uh-huh.) Okay? The amendments hadn ' t  

been d r a f t e d  y e t .  But we g o t t a  do t h e  cover l e t t e r .  (\I: chuckle) The 

cover l e t t e r  says  'These amendments w i l l  a s su re  t h e  s a f e t y  of t h e  drugs f o r  

t h e  American people . '  Huh! Kennedy says  ' I  d o n ' t  l i k e  t h a t .  Xo l e g i s l a t i o n  

can a s su re  t k a t  drugs w i l l  be s a f e .  How can we f i x  i t ? '  V e l l ,  everybody 

s t ands  arounC with t h e i r  mouths open and I--and then  I--it was such a g rea t  

t h r i l l  f o r  me--I leaned over h i s  shoulder  and I s a i d  'Put  t h e  word "help" i n  

f r o n t  of t h e  word a s s u r e . '  (M: Uh-huh.) So, you know, so now you see  how i t  

read.  And he looked up and he s a i d  'Good, good, t h a t ' s  good.' So l a t e r  on 

i n  t h e  conversa t ion  when we ge t  t o  t h i s  'what should he say '  and I f l i p  out  

wi th  t h i s  'Bop, I ' d  t e l l  them t o  look i n  t h e  ned ic ine  c a b i n e t , '  (M: laugh) 

he heard t h a t .  Here h e ' s  got  t h e  Surgeon General saying  n o t  t o ;  t h e  Cowis-  

s i o n e r  of Food and Drug say ins  not  t o ;  bTil5ur s o r t  of--well--he's not  going 

t o  c o n t r a d i c t  t h e  Surg and t h e  Commish--you know--mnnnh--you know. Jack 

Kennedy walks out  and i t  was one of t h e  g r e a t  t h r i l l s  of ny l i f e - - I  j u s t  l e t  

out  a y e l l  r i g h t  t h e r e  i n  t h e  White House! (3: l aushs )  I j u s t  l e t  out t h i s  

yell--'He -did  it! '  (?I: laughs) Pad he knew what ' s  right--he knew what's 

wrong--he knev that--don't  panic--don't panic-- this  i s  nothing--don't--you 

know--don't 12t  t h i s  s t u f f  throw you. W e ' l l  get--we' l l  win t h i s .  He saw 

immedia te ly-as  some of t h e  r e s t  of us d id  t h a t  thalidomide was gonna car ry  

us through. U r h .  Ah. Okay on t h a t ?  (X: X g h t . )  And t h a t ' s  how i t  happen< 

And then  we l e f t  t h e  White House and went back t o  t h e  o f f i c e .  I t ' s  fou r  

o ' c lock  i n  t h e  afternoon--five o 'c lock  i n  t h e  a f te rnoon and Ellenbogen, 

Sonosky and Rankin s t a r t  d r a f t i n s .  And t h a t  process  went on a l l  through t h e  

n i g h t ,  a l l  through t h e  next  day, with t h e  m a t e r i a l  Zel ivered t o  t h e  White Eo 

t h a t  n i g h t  a t  one o 'c lock  wi th  Mike Xanatos 's  c a l l i n g  me a t  home--which i s  a 

Saturday--saying we need a press  r e l e a s e .  I d i c t a t e d  a p r e s s  r e l e a s e  t o  

Manatos's g i r l  and out  they went--'White House Anends a ill.' What were we 



-- 

d o i n ' ?  were r i d i n ?  out  our veh ic l e  through t h e  Senate.  (M: Right . )  But 

this t i m e  t h e  v e h i c l e  was t h e  S a r r i s  \ i l l - -bu t  we d i d n ' t  i t  the  S a r r i s  

b i l l .  

1 :  (chuckle) It was a  much--amended 51552, I--

S:  I t  was t h e  Z a r r i s  b i l l !  

4 :  Yeah. Riqht .  

S:  9kay. V i t h  improvements. Now, ( readin5  M ' s  ques t ions)  'Describe meeting 

where P r e s i d e n t ' s  amendments were presented t o  J u d i c i a r y  Corn i t t ee . '  

M: I--I don ' t  know t h a t  t h a t ' s  important.  Vhat I ' m  trying--

S: Yeah. Har r i s  covers t h a t  p r e t t y  w e l l .  

M: Yeah. ' h a t  I ' m  g e t t i n g  t o ,  i s  he t a lked  about a so-cal led second 

I,s e c r e t "  meeting. 

S: Yeah. Yeah. Second "secret"  meeting. a r e c o l l e c t i o n  of t h a t  one--my 

r e c o l l e c t i o n  of t h a t  one i s  hazy, Dick. But i t  was very s i m i l a r  t o  the  f i r s t  

one i n  that--as  I r e c a l l  now--and, honest-to-God, I could be wrong--but i t  

was t h e  same s i t u a t i o n .  East land and t h e  minor i ty  guys wanted t o  s i t  down 

wi th  us.  They stillhad some amendments! 

M :  The drug--yeah--the drug indus t ry .  

S: They s t i l l  had amendments! It was a f t e r  t ha l idon ide .  (X: Yeah.) And i 

was t h e  same situation-- 'Can vou s i t  down and go over 'en. '  And I had t h e  

same at t i tude-- 'Yes,  I can s i t  dovn with t h e  minor i ty  s t a f f  menbers. I can 

s i t  down w i t h  lawyers f o r  the  drug indus t ry .  Yeah. I can si t  dorm a t  t h e  

r eques t  of t h e  Chief of S taf f  of t h e  Senate J u d i c i a r y  Committee, Tom Coll in 



t o  review some ma te r i a l s  t h a t  t h e  drug indus t ry  has .  Yes, I can do t h a t  

without  s e l l i n g  my sou l . '  (3:  Right . )  I ' v e  always suggested t o  those  o t h e r  

people,  ' I f  you &, I ' d  suggest  you've got  a  p rob len . '  (?I: chuckle) If-
they can ' t  s i t  down with t h e i r  opponents i n  a l e g i s l a t i v e  b a t t l e  without 

cor rupt ing  themselves, then t h e r e ' s  something wrong with them. I never had 

any f e a r s  of s i t t i n g  down with the  o t h e r  s i d e  i n  a l e g i s l a t i v e  battle--and 

t h a t  was i t .  And i n  John walked! And I laughed----
Break i n  recording 

S: Here we go again.  (3: chuckle) John looked--and--and knew-- See, 

I t h i n k  i f  i t  were up t o  B l a i r ,  t h e r e  wouldn't  have been t h e  explosion a f t e r  

t h e  f i r s t  meet-lng. B l a i r  would have handled i t  d i f f e r e n t l y .  

?I: So you thir-k i t  was Kefauver who--

S: Yeah, i t  was Kefauver who blew--Blair, be fo re  he  would have run out  on thl 

f l o o r ,  before  he would have c a l l e d  t h e  White House and everything--Blair woul, 

--would have--'Let's f i n d  out  what 's  going on f i r s t . '  Okay? Ah--here, a t  t h ~  

second s i t u a t i o n ,  B l a i r  was i n  con t ro l  and i t  was a ' H i !  Come on i n  and s i t  

down.' Y'know. I t  was t h a t  simple. Now we're s t i l l  dea l ing  with guys we 

don ' t  t r u s t  inc luding  Bud Fensterwald--or me-ybe e s o e c i a l l y  Bud Fensterwald--

t h a t  i t  was l ike--I  t h ink  someone suggested t o  me once t h a t  we were about t o  

do i t  again  and I j u s t  looked a t  him and s a i d ,  'You know, i f  it weren ' t  so 

paranoid and i t  weren't s o  l u n a t i c ,  I ' d  almost ge t  mad, but  I never ge t  mad 

a t  lunscy.  Bow i n  t h e  name of God could anybody t h i n k  t h a t  a s  a r e p r e s e n t a t i  

of t h e  Kennedy adminis t ra t ion ,  I would be s i t t i n g  down with t h e  minority--

wi th  t h e  drug indus t ry  lawyers t o  gut  t h e  P r e s i d e n t ' s  b i l l  t h a t  I s tayed  up 

a l l  n i g h t  wr i t ing!  (M: Right.)  You know, tha t - - tha t - - tha t ' s  paranoia run 

rampant! E i the r  t h a t  o r  you g o t t a  th ink  t h a t  some k ind  of a nut--and &a 



I re sen t !  (?I: chuckle) You know. I don't--I'm n o t  t h e  kind of guy who s t a y s  

up a l l  n igh t  wi th  t h r e e  l i t t l e  babies  a t  home, w r i t i n g  a b i l l ,  and then meeting 

wi th  guys again i n  t h e  open. Y'know? (3 :  Right . )  Y'know. I repea t .  I f  I 

wanted t o  have a s e c r e t  meeting wi th  these  guys,  I wouldn't do i t  i n  t h e  

Senate  Jud ic i a rv  Cormittee Roon. A l l  r i g h t .  Nick Katzenbach--Xck Katzenbach 

was making c e r t a i n  t h a t ,  y'kr~o~.?, we weren ' t  do in '  anything t h a t  was screwin'  

up t h e  Jud ic i a ry  Committee. Huh! And s o r t  of redoing  our work and lookin '  

over ,  y'know, a s  a o l d e r  b ro the r .  Yakins s u r e  t h a t  we weren ' t  screwball ing 

--y'know--yeh--and, and keeping i n  mind t h a t  they ha6 a l o t  of o t h e r  business  

with t h e  Senate J u d i c i a r y  Committee besides t h i s  5 i l l .  

1 :  Cohen suggested t h a t  perhaps t h e r e  was s o r e  k ind  of an agreement between 

Eas t land  and Katzenbach on o the r  i s s u e s  t h a t  perhaps unlocked p a r t  of the  

debate.  Are you aware of any--? 

S :  I wouldn't be aware of t h a t .  I Lon't agree  w i t h  IJilbur t o  the--to t h e  

e x t e n t  t h a t  I don ' t  t h i n k  t h e r e  was any unlocking t h a t  was needed. That b i l l  

was going. 

: He d idn ' t  r e a l l y  f i l l  me in--

S: That b i l l  was going. I th ink  what he meant was t h a t  Xatzenbach wanted tc 

make s u r e  t h a t  we weren ' t  gonna--that we weren ' t  gonna ram th ings  down Jimmy 

Eas t l and ' s  throat-- to s o  offend J i m y  Eas t land ,  E v e r e t t  Dirksen and o t h e r  

people t h a t  yoc screw up a whole bunch of a t h i n ~ s  t h a t  you had going i n  

t h e  Senate Jud ic i a ry  Committee. It was l i k e  more how we were wit. 

(Y: Right.)  a u t  I don ' t  th ink  i t  was an agreement t h a t  t h i s  would go--becaw 

we got  t h e  b i l l  through t h a t  we wanted. (>I:Fight . )  Xow, i f  they had any 

s i d e  d iscuss ions  on pa ten t s  and p r i c e s  and all tha t - - tha t  I don ' t  know about 

(X: You weren ' t  aware of i t . )  Yeah. Because Harris s o r t  of covers what 



r e a l l y  happened wi th  regard t o  drug s a f e t y  and e f f i c a c y - t h a t  quote of mine, 

'No, gentlemen, we a r e  not  through. '  

Y: Right.  T h a t ' s  a--that's--yeah. That cones around about t h i s  t i n e .  

S: Sure. That comes exac t lv  a t  t h a t  ~ o i n t  because--look--it d i d n ' t  t ake  

any d m y  t o  go through t h e  P r e s i d e n t ' s  arnendv-ents and f i n d  those  s o e c i f i c a l l y  

r e l a t e d  t o  a thal idonide-type s i t u a t i o n .  (X: Right . )  Pick those out and say 

we support them. Now. Tha t ' s  i t .  The r e s t  of i t  dropped. 30-no-no. 

N: So t h a t  was t r u e .  What they were t r y i n g  t o  do was j u s t  p ick  those 

amendments out-- 

S: I th ink  t h a t ' s  what the  drug indus t ry  would have gone with--(M: yeah) .  

Sure. I th ink  t h a t ' s  what they would have with.  And I j u s t  s a i d  'No. 

That i s n ' t  what he v7as t a l k i n '  about.  The P res iden t  s a i d  that--sent  these  

amendments up. '  Well, t h a t ' s  what we got-- 

%: Yeah. 

S: Yeah. Tha t ' s  1.7ky, y'know, t h e r e  was no deal of t h a t  kind--there was no 

f u r t h e r  unlocking. Thalidomide unlocked i t .  

M: Was i t  about t h i s  same time t h a t  t h e  ques t ion  of proof of e f f i cacy  was 

worked out?  

S: Yeah. 

M: And B l a i r  cane u? with that--a-- 

S: Yeah. Oh--probably a t  t h e  second "secre t"  meeting i s  when B l a i r  came up 

wi th  it. Yeah. 

M: Yeah. 



S: Yeah. ( reading  M's quest ion)  'Vhat s i g n i f i c a n t  i s s u e s  were hanmered out?  

--Remember I s t a r t e d  t o  say t o  you--at this p o i n t ,  Dick, I r eve r t ed  back t o  

my r o l e  of s o r t  of policy--polit ical--huh!--floater.  Whenever--nnn--

my exper ience- - th is td  been my technique I suppose i n  l e g i s l a t i o n  w h e r s  I ' d  

been-- Ch..ce i t ' s  r e a l l y  resolved,  I leave  t h e  wordsmithing t o  the  Ted Ellenbc 

John B l a i r ,  !,?in Rankin--('" r i g h t )  --Lloyd Cu t l e r .  : Right . )  Yeah. !.Jord-

smithing r e a l l y  never  i n t e r e s t e d  rre. ( ! I :  A l l  Right . )  A s  long--= t h a t  

po l i cy  i s  e s t a b l i s h e d  and once t h a t  t h i n g  i s  moving--huh! 

M: And that's--you--you s t e p  out  of i t .  

S: I can--I can say  'Okay.' I - - I ' m  no t  sugges t ing  I stepped out .  I s taved  

in ,  b u t  my meEory i s  n o t  that--at t h a t  po in t  i t  was--in e f f e c t  I was doing t o  

Cut le r  what he d i d  t o  me before  thalidomide. I n  e f f e c t ,  what I was doing was 

I had t h e  language, I got  burned once, t r y i n g  t o  make language changes--okay. 

Post-thalidomide I got  t h e  lansuage,  I got  t h e  vo te s .  (M: Right . )  Pre-
p 

thalidomide had t h e  l a n p a g e  and thev had t h e  vo te s .  They were n i c e r  th .  

I was. Lloyd Cut le r  was a  darned s i g h t  n i c e r  than I was when -he had t h e  powe 

-He made some changes. bouzht some th ings .  I d i d n ' t .  (M: Umh.) Af t e r  

thalidomide I was B e l l  on wheels. 

M: Umh.  So you could s t i c k  with t h e  P r e s i d e n t ' s  amendments. 

S: Huh? Why, I was s t i c k i n '  them. (M: Umh.) And t h e r e  a r e  some of them wh 

haven ' t  forg iven  me t o  t h i s  day. Umh. So--signif icant  issues--I'm s u r e  t h a t  

Ellenbogen and B l a i r  an2 o the r s  would remember some--like 'what i s  e f f i c a c y '  

and a l l  t h e  techni--I--I--at t h a t  point  I almost l o s t  i n t e r e s t .  Because i t  

was &'. (Y: Umh.) Because i f  they d i d n ' t  work out  -thing--huh!--look- 

i f  they d i d n ' t  work out  somethin ' ,  I had t h e  language--'wanna vote?'--'Who 

wants t o  vo te  f o r  thal idomide? '  (21: heh-heh-heh-heh) Kean b a s t a r d s .  Okay. 



V%y d i d  t h e  adminis t ra t ion  still oppose Kefauver 's pa t en t  amendments? 

--you 'rmow--nothin'--yeah--that a l l  went back--you know, I d o n ' t  knov 

why they  opposed i t  i n  the  f i r s t  p lace  s o  (chuckle)--you know--(M: chuckle) 

--thalidomide d i d n ' t  change t h a t .  (M: A l l  r i g h t . )  Okay? 

: S a r r i s  n&es a  b ig  point  t h a t  i f  t h e  Kennedy ad r r in i s t r a t ion  had j u s t  

supported i t ,  it would have--this would have passed. 

S: That ' s  B la i r ' s - - tha t ' s  B l a i r ' s  l i n e  (?I: r i g h t ) .  That ' s  s t r a i g h t  John 

B l a i r .  Because he got  22 votes  on the f l o o r .  (X: Right.)  W t h o u t  support .  

Think how nany vo te s  I would have got ten  wirh suppor t .  

1 t . And of course Cohen's pos i t i on  is 'They d i d n ' t  -have t h e  votes  

s o  we couldn ' t  support them.' 

S :  Xy view always was they never had t h e  vo te s  anyruay. (M: Xight.)  Okay. 

But,  you know--and Cohen saving e  l  i t ' s - - so  v7e d i d n ' t  support  'ern--I 

d o n ' t  know--I j u s t  d o n ' t  t h ink  they were ready i n  1962 t o  suppor t  t h a t  

concept and -now i t ' s  1974 and they ' r e  s t i l l  not  t h e r e  (N: chuckle) .  So, you 

know, I don ' t  need--you know. (reading Y ' s  quest ion)  'Why d i d n ' t  White 

House push f o r  a c t i o n  i n  Har r i s  committee?' We did.  They d i d .  (M: c h c k l e :  

I d o n ' r  ge t  t h a t  quest ion.  

PI: 'hy,  Har r i s  suggests  t h a t  t h e r e  vas a l a g .  

S :  He was f u l l  of s h i t .  

M: Yeah. There was a l ag .  

S :  There was a lag--0ren S a r r i s  d i d n ' t  have t h e  time to--0ren Har r i s  hadn'l 

s e t  up a  meeting: Y'know. To h i% the whole --world was t h e  drug b i l l  (M: ri ,  

N . Xot t o  Oren Harris--he had o t h e r  th ings!  (M: r i g h t )  So Oren Ha 



gave us  a hear ing  j u s t  a s  quick as  (1 :  as  quick a s  you could--) and f a s t  

enough f o r  us.  You know! 'Cause, y'know, we somethin'--you know 

what we knev? The world a i n ' t  gonna cone t o  an end. This  b i l l  i s n ' t  gonna 

nake (?I: a l l  r i g h t )  a f r e s h  new world! Huh? (?I: laughs)  And the  world-- 

and people a r e n ' t  gonna drop dead on t h e  s treet--huh? 'Cause one th ing  I 

kep t  reminding everybody--I s a i d ,  '?.enember, y'know, under t h e  o ld  lousy 

law we've g o t ,  y'know, t h a t ' s  s o  t e r r i b l e ,  one country thalidomide d idn ' t  

make i t  o u t  onto t h e  market. '  (11: Right--it  was he re . )  Yep. Okay. 

:I: I t h i n k  22 is p r e t t y  self-evident--well--Did t h e  administration--well-- 

S: Vell--No. You s e e ,  a t  that point--no, a t  t h a t  po in t ,  Dick, you've got--

no-no-no--that--no t h a t  i s n ' t - - t h a t ' s  rrrong. A t  t h a t  p o i n t ,  t h e  nuch-amended 

S 1 5 5 2 ,  a s  I recall-we went i n t o  t h e  House saying ,  'Pass t h e  Senate b i l l .  ' 

Yeah. So t h a t  s tatement  t h e r e  would be wrong. 

X: Y--well, I th ink  Harris r a i s e s  a question--. Ve l l ,  why didn't--why 

d i d n ' t  you j u s t  take  S1552 and then present  i t  i n  t h e  House i n s t e a d  of soing-

going--

S:  'Cause Oren I Iar r i s  had h i s  b i l l ,  baby-- 

X: Uh. So i t  was Oren Harris's dec is ion  t o  s t i c k  with h i s  b i l l ?  

S:  Oren Har r i s  had a b i l l .  And Oren Har r i s  was saying,  'You a r e n ' t  p u t t i n '  

-m e  i n  a position-- '  ! :  Right.)--'of having had the  b i l l  t h a t  opposes the  

Refauver b i l l  a l l  these  months, (?I: uh-huh) and then j u s t  say  "Oh, now we 

t ake  t h e  Kefauver bill."--uh-uh--we're gonna tak-e t h e  H a r r i s  b i l l .  And 

we ' re  gonna massage t h a t  H a r r i s  b i l l ! '  No, t h e  House I n t e r s t a t e  and Foreign 

Commerce Comnittee under Oren Har r i s  was a tough bunch of babies .  They don' 

take--(X: I ' m  s u r e  he was a l i t t l e  b i t  upset  w i th  Kefauver s o r t  of horning 



i n  on h i s  j u r i s d i c t i o n )  :Innn--:?yah. You know, (X: he wasn ' t? )  That was 

the o t h e r  s ide .  The guy who vas  upset was L i s t e r  H i l l .  (?I: Yeah--chuckle) 

~e--and-- [ u n i n t e l l i g i b l e ]  (N: chuckle).  No, Har r i s  r.7asn1t upset  a t  t h a t .  

No. But Harr i s  was not about t o  j u s t  accent  t h e  Senate B i l l .  Uh-uh. :Jot 

a f t e r  vhat  he had been put through. Don't you s e e ,  h i s  b i l l  had been described 

as  t h e  weak b i l l !  : i t .  T.Jell, he was going t o  prove t h a t  i t  wasn't .  Sure 

And I don ' t  blarne him. (?I: Right.) And--and we weren ' t  i n  t h a t  much of a rush. 

We weren ' t  i n  t i a t  much of a rush--I know what the  h e l l  we were pushin' for--we 

had t h e  authorizy t o  c o n t r o l  thalidomide--that wasn't--yfknow--shit! Things sta 

breakin '  down--things s t a r t e d  breaking down a l i t t l e  b i t  and the  Sherry Finkbein 

s to ry  broke! (1.1: heh-heh-heh-heh, yeah) y'know. There was a l i t t l e  i n t e r e s t  

l a g g i n '  goin '  oc--uum. 

: And t h a t  s t o r y  breaks-- 

S: Huh! And the  Sherry Finkbein s t o r y  breaks.  (Y: Yeah.) Let me t e l l  you 

this--ylknow--you can l i s t e n  t o  t h i s  l a t e r  and laugh,  I th ink .  I p ick  up the  

paper on a Nonday morning and s e e  a picture--y1know--the Sherry Finkbein 

s tory-- there 's  a p i c tu re  of Sherry Finkbein. Okay? I say  t o  my wife,  ' I  

know her . '  S l a ine  says  'You're nuts! '  Okay? I ' m  n u t s .  Everybody says I ' m  

nuts .  But I ' m  t e l l i n '  ya,  I know Sherry Finkbein. (Y: laughs) Drive i n  t o  

work, th inking a l l  t h e  time, 'Where have I seen t h a t  f ace  before? :  Get t o  

the  off ice-- the whole s t a f f  is now around 'cause we a l l  want t o  t a l k  about 

Sherry Finkbein now, r i g h t ?  And everybody's t a l k i n '  about i t  and I say from 

my desk--my room was t h e  meeting room--and I say from my desk,  'I know h e r . '  

Same reac t ion .  Everybody--Costun, Zumas--the whole crowd--'He's f l ipped! '  

1 remember, I th ink  i t  was Costun that--'He's f l i pped!  I t ' s  happened, h e ' s  

f l ipped!  ~ e ' sbeen l i v i n '  t h e  drug b i l l  f o r  so long t h a t  now he even knows 

Sherry inkb be in!' I s a i d ,  ' I  not only know Sherry Finkbein, I used t o  date 



her! '  (X: chuckle) h d  her  name i s n ' t  Sherry Finkbein--what was, what was 

h e r  name? (Y: I c a n ' t  remember what h e r  maiden name was,) Her name was 

and I went l i k e  t h a t .  And I y e l l e d  t o  my s e c r e t a r y  P a t ,  'Get 

my n iece  Judy i n  Phoenix, Arizona!' P a t  makes t h e  phone c a l l .  'Hello, Judy? 

This  i s  your uncle--your famous uncle i n  Washington. How a r e  ya? '  'Fine. 

How a r e  you?'  I s a i d ,  '3udy,--' and be fo re  I could a sk  t h e  quest ion,  she  

y e l l s  i n t o  t h e  phone 'Yes. You're r i g h t .  Sherry  Finkbein i s  t 

and I c a n ' t  renember t h e  name now, but  she  was from Duluth, Minnesota (Y: laul 

--her name was ohhhh, d a m  i t!  I c a n ' t  remecber. I used t o  da te  

her  when I was i n  high school .  (M: laughs) Huh! 

?I: !&at a coincidence! 

S: And that was Sherry Pinkbein! 

?I: What a coincidence. 

S: Pad t h a t ' s  when t h e  l i n e  cane out  t h a t  Sonosky w i l l  do =thing t o  ge t  

a b i l l  passed. 

X: (laughs hard)  Tha t ' s  funny! 

S :  That i s  funny. Okay. So (reading again  from X's ques t ions)  'Why didn '  

Vhite  House push f o r  a c t i o n  i n  Har r i s  committee?' We d i d .  That ' s  my answer 

t o  t h a t .  ( reading  again) 'Did we s t i l l  p refer - - '  You know, I ' v e  answered 

t h a t .  

: A l l  r i g h t .  

S: ( reading again) 'Do you want t o  add anyth ing  t o  H a r r i s ' s  account on the 

b a t t l e  of t h e  Younger anendnent?' No. I t h i n k  you've got  t h a t  p r e t t y  we l l  

where he--where he--uh--explains my r e l a t i o n s h i p  wi th  B la tn ik  : r i g h t ,  r i .  



and t h e  whole theory  and concept (X: r i g h t )  and every th ing  e l s e .  (M: Right . )  

Emh. 'nd how t h a t  worked. ( readinc  aga in)  'Other comments on a t tempts  t o  

water  down b i l l  i n  t h e  :louse.' Again, Dick, my f e e l i n g  was I--I wasn' t  con-

cerned--I, I t o l d  you t h a t  s t o r y  on t h e  phone about the--um--urn--the f a c t o r y ,  

t h e  f a c t o r y  in spec t ion  amendment. (X: Em-huh.) I mean--I t h ink  t h a t  s o r t  of 

capsu la t e s  i t .  Here--here--I'm s i t t i n g  t h e r e  a s  t h e  tiE!i honcho on a  b i l l  and 

-I see  t h e  Eouse of Representat ives a c t u a l l y  gut  i t !  And I don't--I  don ' t  eve-

say a  word! Because I had total confidence t h a t  the  b i l l  t h a t  =wanted was 

gonna pass .  

X: How did  you--how did  t h a t ?  

S: Because of t ha l idon ide .  

?I: No--I mean--how--how was t h a t  p a r t i c u l a r  problem resolved? I ' v e  fo rgo t t ;  

S: I n  conference! (?I:I n  conference.) Sure. Because of an o l d  l e g i s l a t i v r  

ru le- - i f  one house makes an e r r o r ,  1 :  r i g h t )  then  the  house i n  e r r o r  recede. 

t o  t h e  house not  i n  e r r o r .  (?I: Uh-huh.) And I wanted t o  walk i n  t o  confe re  

wi th  a bad, erroneous--I d i d n ' t  want t o  but  t h e  way i t  worked out  i t  was 

b e a u t i f u l .  We walk i n t o  conference wi th  an = i n  t h e  Eouse b i l l  w i th  

regard t o  f a c t o r y  inspec t ion .  Now t h e  way i t  works i s  t h e  f i r s t  t h ing  you 

cover i n  conference a r e  t echn ica l  ma t t e r s  and s o  t h e  Senate Conferee says-- 

and h e ' s  of course primed f o r  this--says--um--'There i s  an e r r o r  i n  t h e  Eou: 

v e r s i o n  regarding Sect ion  so-and-so. The Senate i n s i s t s  on i t s  amendment.' 

To which t h e  House says  'The House recedes. '  : K g . )  ' N  t h a t ' s  factor:  

i n spec t ion .  

M: Right.  But t h e  Younger amendment was t h e  major-- 

S: The Younger anendment was adver t i sed- - tha t  was i t .  



X: It was a  major--snafu-- 

S: I ' m  j u s t  t a l k i n g  about your number 24.  

M: Right .  Right .  

S :  Well--what do you mean--major snafu? 

M: I i e l l ,  I mean i t  was t h e  only-- 

S: The big e f f o r t  t o  weaken t h e  b i l l - -  

?I: Right.  Right.  

S :  Yeah. Yeah. That was t h e  b i g  e f f o r t  t o  weaken the  b i l l .  (?I:Right.)  An( 

we--a--and what? I ' d  almost ,  you know, I ' d  almost have t o  r e f e r  t o  Harris t o  

what happened. IJe got  B la tn ik  t o  l ead  t h e  f i g h t  aga ins t  i t  and Younger was 

defea ted  . 
1 :  Right. 

S : Right. TJhich i s  kind of a n i c e  c l o s e r  t o  t h e  whole t h i n g  because--because 

a d v e r t i s i n g  was never  a p a r t  of t h e  o r i g i n a l  H a r r i s  b i l l  and wasn ' t  i t  kind 

of s i g n i f i c a n t  t h a t  i n  t h e  end we ended up wi th  a  major b a t t l e  over  something 

t h a t  wasn ' t  i n  the  o r i g i n a l  Har r i s  b i l l - - t h a t  was a  Kefauver baby. Huh? 

S:  Uh--It s o r t  of took our c lou t  t o  bea t  Younger. It  was our technique. It  

was our contac t  wi th  B la tn ik .  

M: By t h i s  s t a g e  i n  t h e  game were you on a  p r e t t y  good r e l a t i o n s h i p  with 

B l a i r ?  I b e l i e v e  you ind ica t ed  t h a t  t o  me over t h e  phone. 

S: I ind ica t ed  t o  you I s a t  i n  t h e  g a l l e r y  watching t h e  House deba te  with h i  



I :  So th ings  have been sonewhat ~ a t c h e d  up--if they 'd  ever  been--

S:  I t h i n k  they  were. A s  I indica ted  t o  you John B l a i r  wouldn't  have handled 

i t - - t h a t  i t  would not--wouldn't have happened t h a t  way i f  John B l a i r  had 

handled i t .  (?I: Right.)  John B l a i r  would n o t  have blown t o  t h e  c e i l i n g .  Johr 

B l a i r  would have had t h a t  nee t ing  I ' m  t a l k i n g  about.  (Y: PAght.) Before the  

c a l l  t o  t h e  Uhite  Eouse people. Before t h e  c a l l  t o  Cohen. Se fo re  t h e  speech 

on t h e  f l o o r .  (K: Right . )  John B la i r  would have had a  meetino,. And he would 

have c a l l e d  me i n  and I s a i d  t o  Kefauver 'You should have grabbed me by t h e  

back of my pants  and thrown m e  i n t o  a  room and s a i d  "Goddam i t --what1re you 

doing:"' (M: chuckle) Then I would have been a b l e  t o  explain-- 'I 'm not  doing 

nothing! '  (X: chuckle) ' I  could have t o l d  you t h e  whole s t o r y !  "secret 

meeting? There was no " sec re t "  meeting. I went t o  a  meet ing. '  And I ' d  a t o  

him t h e  whole s t o r y  j u s t  l i k e  I ' m  t e l l i n g  you. (N: Right . )  Sure.  And John 

understood t h a t .  John r e a l i z e d  t h a t .  Yeah, we s a t  t o s e t h e r  dur ing  t h e  House 

debate.  And I t o l d  you t h e  s t o r y  of t h e  up and down. 

?I: Yes. T e l l  m e  b r i e f l y  again.  

S:  The non-prescript ion people were peddling an amendment t h a t  said--to the  

f ac to ry  in spec t ion  provision--that s a i d  'This i s  what you can look a t . '  Oka 

(M: Yeah.) The way .re d r a f t  l e g i s l a t i o n ,  you g ive  a  gene ra l  b lanket  authori  

t o  look a t  every th ing  except  and then you l i s t  t h e  excepts  (?I: uh-huh), oka! 

The o the r  theory of d r a f t i n g  i s  to--instead of g iv ing  b lanket  a u t h o r i t y  w i t 1  

exceptions--give t h e  s p e c i f i c  au thor i ty .  Okay? (?I: ~ i g h t . )  Now, the  

b i l l  a s  reported--has b lanket  au thor i ty  except (X: a l l  r i g h t ) .  The non-pre 

t i o n  people promise t h a t  they w i l l  not peddle t h e i r  anendnent--so I ' m  

relaxed on t h a t .  S i t t i n g  up the re  i n  the  g a l l e r y  wi th  B l a i r ,  next  th ing  I 

knew h e r e ' s  Springer  of I l l i n o i s  s tanding up o f f e r i n g  an amendment and he1! 

o f f e r i n g  t h e  non-prescr ip t ion  drug indus t ry ' s  amendment on f a c t o r y  in spec t  



Well ,  I looked over t o  J i m  Cope and I went l i k e  t h i s  (ges tu re )  l i k e  ' I ' m  

gonna k i l l  ya. '  --Y'know. (M; chuckle) Cope comes running up--mnrsn--and 

he says  'Jerry- o one st t o  God--we d i d n ' t  do i t !  Yonest t o  God!' he says ,  ' t he  

man obviously & a  copy of our  amendment, but-+onest t o  God--we didn't--we 

didn't--we t o l d  him not t o  do t h i s ! '  The only t h i n g  I can f i g u r e  out  i s  

Springer--is Springer  looked a t  i t ,  s a i d  'I don ' t  c a r e .  This  nakes sense . '  

and up he  got .  Okay? B l a i r  always had the  f e e l i n s  t h a t  t h a t  wasn't  a bad 

way of d r a f t i n g  f a c t o r y  in spec t ion  l e g i s l a t i o n .  lie liked t o  s e e  t h e  th ings  

you can look as  as  opposed t o  the  blanket  s t u f f .  'cause John never  t r u s t e d  

t h e  admin i s t r a t ive  agency of doing the  r i g h t  t h i n g  =how. (41: Uhhuh, uhhuh.) 

John Dingle, who a t  t h a t  po in t  i s  managing t h e  b i l l ,  f o r  t h e  good guys, looks 

up i n  t h e  g a l l e r y  t o  us--we're s i t t i n '  t he re  together--with t h e  Springer  

amendment r o l l i n g .  And he goes--like that--(M: thumbs up,  thumbs down) Bla i r  

goes (M: thumbs up?) Thumbs up! You know--thumbs up; thumbs down, says 

Dingle.  B l a i r  goes thumbs up! I go--you know--(?$: thumbs down) thumbs down! 

--Vociferous!--you know (?I: l auchs) .  I 'Ddoin '  a r e a l  (Y: laughs)  John Ding11 

--and h e r e  we g e t  back t o  what I s a i d  t o  you e a r l y  i n  t h e  game--if John 

Dingle has  a choice between John lair's judgment a s  t o  what ' s  good f o r  the  

Pmerican people and J e r r y  Sonosky's judgment as  t o  what ' s  g3od f o r  the  Americ 

people--=--works f o r  Kefauver doesn ' t  he? (>I: Yeah.) Huh? (M: Yeah.) 

John Dingle t u r n s  around and says  t o  t h e  assembled throng i n  t h e  House, ':Jell 

we on t h i s  s i d e  can accept  t h a t  amendment.' (M: laughs)  A l l  t h e  drug indus t  

guys look up t o  me a s  if--and, y'know, they ' r e  l a u e h i n '  now. (M: Yeah.) The 

know Sonosky's been screwed! (Y: laughs) I j u s t  s i t  t h e r e .  Don't say a 

t h i n g  and t h e y ' r e  look in '  a t  me now--the drug i n d u s t r y  guys--1'11 never forge 

i t - - t h e y ' r e  a l l  down t h e r e .  And they ' r e  lookin '  a t  me--'What's he  gonna do? 

Everybody's expect ing me t o  run out  the  door,  you know, t e a r  out  my h a i r .  I 

j u s t  sit  t h e r e .  I q u i e t l y  t u r n  t o  B l a i r  and I s a y  'You know what h e ' s  j u s t  



'Tihat?' 'He's j u s t  repea led  WDA's f ac to ry  i n s p e c t i o n  authority--because 

-a l l  t h e  th ings  i n  Spr inge r ' s  l i s t  which he means you look a t  fol lows 

t h e  word "except." (M: laughs) So I s a i d ,  'The b i l l  on t h e  f l o o r  r i g h t  now 

says  FDA has  f a c t o r y  in spec t ion  au thor i ty  t o  look i n s i d e  a f a c t o r y ' s  blah- 

blah-blah-blah-blah except (M: except--)--all t h e  t h i n z s  you wanna look a t . '  

Y e l l ,  BLair s a i d  'Whatta ya gonna do? What should we do? '  I say--and I put  

my hand on h i s  am--and I s a i d  ' ~ e t ' s  do nothin! '  ?Je got  'en i n  conference. '  

?.I: Right. You knew you coul2 resolve i t  t h e r e .  

S:  !dent downstairs  when t h e  b i l l  was a l l  over.  Got Sam S p a l l ,  t h e  s t a f f  guy 

assigned,  and I s a i d  'Sam, you know what you d i d  wi th  t h a t  amendment?' He 

s a i d ,  'No. What?' I t o l d  him. He s a i d  'Oh, my God! (M: chuckle) What 

should we do? '  I s a i d  ' D O  no th in ' . '  He s a i d  'Okay.' Press  i s  s tanding  

around. P r e s s  guy s e e s  me. He says 'Well,  J e r r y ,  whadda ya t h i n k ? '  and 'POL 

g o t t a  s t a t e a e n t  f o r  HE!? t h i s  time t h a t  t h e y ' l l  back u?? '  (laughs) (M: laughs) 

And I s a i d  'Yes, '  I s a i d  ' t h i s  was a  f i n e  day f o r  a l l  of us--uh--American 

people and now we can look forward t o  a  nuch h e a l t h i e r  f u t u r e  wi th  t h e  passa: 

of t h i s  b i l l . '  And--and t h e  devil i n  me comes o u t ,  I s ' pose ,  'and I ' m  

e s p e c i a l l y  de l igh ted  t h a t  a  s t r o n g  f ac to ry  i n s p e c t i o n  provis ion  was adopted. 

(M: Chuckle) ilnd t h e  guys a r e  standing--the pros a r e  s tanding  around-- 

doubled over  laughing 'cause the--you know. I ' d  s p o t l i g h t e d  i t  and then  we 

took c a r e  of i t .  You know, t h a t ' s  a  l i t t l e  a s i d e  t h a t  I always th ink  a r e  

great. (M: Yeah.) Ah--'How a  b i l l  ge t s  passed. '  Conference again--it wen1 

i n t o  conference--the i n f i g h t i n g  continued--but I r e a l l y ,  Dick, continued t o  

s o r t  of walk over  i t .  I j u s t  s a t  and r e a l l y  l e t  'em go. 

M: You--you weren't  the  conference, were you? 

S :  No. I ' d  s tayed  ou t s ide  (>I: uh-huh). I ' d  s t ayed  ou t s ide .  Kefauver wa: 



s t i l l  nad a t  a e .  ("I: Uh-huh.) Oh yeah. Kefauver was s t i l l  mad at  me. They 

h a d n ' t  explained t o  him yet--Blair hadn ' t  explained t o  him y e t  t h a t  J e r r y ' s  

r e a l l y  a l l  r i g h t .  (:.I: chuckle) Yeah. So I s tayed  ou t s ide  and I ' d  watch 

th ings  and--ah--there were some good th ings  on t h e  floor--they were s t i l l  

screwin '  around even when they were on t h e  f l o o r  of t h e  Senate they were 

f u t z i n g  wi th  some th ings .  And L l i t e r a l l y  got  mad. I mean, you know, see  

I ' m  f l o a t i n '  around--and, you know, 'This  i s  a l l  r i d i c u l o u s ,  fe l lows,  i t ' s  

a l l  over .  Thalidomide changed i t  a l l .  W i l l  you s t o p  t h i s  fus s ing  around!' 

You know. 

M: Evident ly Hruska even i n  conference was t r y i n g  t o  win-- 

S: There was s t i l l  crap goin '  on and i t  was on t h e  Senate f l o o r .  And I got  

mad. You know. By mad I mean--I had a g r e a t  t i n e  on t h e  Senate f l o o r  by 

t h e  way because I was with Eastland. He brought ne on the  Senate floor-- 

y o u ' l l  s e e  t h e  debate w i l l  show--Eastland asks f o r  a (laugh) unanimous consent 

t h a t  I come on the  f l o o r  (N: ~ m - h u m h )  and I had t h a t  great experience which -
happens t o  very  few people of a HEL]--of a execut ive  branch a ide  being on t h e  

f l o o r  of t h e  United S t a t e s  Senate during t h e  deba te  on t h e  b i l l .  ( : I :  some 

men a r e  lucky-yeah)  Yeah. I t  was r e a l l y  t h r i l l i n g .  Yeah. And I ' d  walk 

around and I ' d  t a l k  t o  them and I ' d  go u p s t a i r s  and then I could s e e  t h a t  

t h e r e ' s  a l i t t l e  commotion on a section--I don ' t  know what the--I don ' t  even 

remember what i t  was--I got  mad. Vent i n  the  back t o  t h e  phone. Called my 

o f f i c e  and I s a i d  t o  my s e c r e t a r y ,  ' ~ h e ~ ' v e  agot  p r e s s  r e l e a s e  ready t o  go 

t h a t  t h e y ' r e  hold ing  back on tha t - - tha t  r e p o r t s  how much thalidomide i s  out  

t h e r e .  (Y: Yeah.) And how nuch they found. '  I s a i d ,  ' T e l l  them I s a i d  l e t  

i t  go and b r ing  me up 15  copies . '  And she  brought 'em up, got  them t o  me on 

t h e  f l o o r .  I waLked out  looking f o r  t h e  boys and I found t h e  boys i n  the  

anreroom s t i l l  t a l k i n g  about something--I d o n ' t  know! --They were a bunch of 



some Suys who .aould s t i l l  have an aaendnent t o  v a t e r  down t h e  b i l l .  C0n.e 

on! You can guess who they a r e .  ('I:Right . )  And I j u s t  walked up t o  t h a t  

group of men and I s a i d ,  'Here, I th ink  you want t o  read t h i s . '  ('I: heh-heh-

heh-heh) And one of them s a i d ,  ' G e n t l e ~ e n ,  t h a t ' s  i t . '  And he  walked away 

and t h a t  was t h e  end of a amendment-weakening amendments t o  t h e  b i l l .  

M: Okay. 

S :  And t h a t ' s  where i t  was. A fasc ina t ine .  l e g i s l a t i v e  experience--urn-- 

t h a t  could have been avoided i f  Es t e s  hadn ' t  blown up on t h a t  day i n  June. 

M: Yeah. 

S :  1 0 t h  day i n  June. 

: Right.  

S :  Yeah. 

: S h a l l  we s t o p  wi th  t h a t ?  

S :  I r e a l l y  th ink  so.  3 x c e ~ tI don ' t  want to--except--no. Except that--

and i f  Es tes  hadn ' t  blown up then--then t h e  t h i n g  may--could have taken 

another  tack  and who knows where w e  would have ended up? Xaybe i t  was good 

t h a t  he d id .  Maybe i t  was good t h a t  t h i s  break came--so that--so t h a t  we 

were l e f t  with a s i t u a t i o n  where a  weak b i l l  was f i n a l l y  repor ted  out  by 

Senate Jud ic i a ry .  Never fo rge t  t h a t .  Nost people f o r g e t  t h a t  t h a t  b i l l  was 

repor ted  out .  (Y: That ' s  r i g h t . )  You knov. A l o t  of people f o r g e t  t h a t .  

And maybe t h a t  was good t h a t  t h a t  happened. So t h a t  when thalidomide d i d  h i t  

we had something t o  a t t ack .  And a t  t h a t  po in t  we could a t t a c k  t h a t  Senate 

repor ted  b i l l  t o  a fare-thee-well because we had a l ready disowned i t .  

M: A l l  r i g h t .  

I 



i r! 
S:  It wasn't  ours  anymore. 

S: See, and i f  we had worked th ings  out  by t h a t  time then i t  would have 

been ours  and then we would have been embarrassed. Thalidomide could have 

been very embarrassing. That j u s t  means t h a t  t h e r e ' s  a l e q i s l a t i v e  angel  

somewhere thar: watches over Sonosky and b i l l s  he works on and o t h e r  people 

so long a s  you ' re  r i g h t  and do in '  a good thin?--you know--the r i g h t  thing-- 

no mat te r  & i t  looks. This  goes on a l l  t h e  t i n e .  

X: Yeah. 

S: It  u s u a l l y  goes on after--by those who d i d n ' t  p a r t i c i p a t e .  Who come i n  

and view t h e  th ing  h i s t o r i c a l l y  and say 'By God, i f  I ' d  been t h e r e ,  I would 

have done i t  d i f f e r e n t l y .  You know. And those  of us who have - i t ,  s o r t  

of  s i t  back and laugh a t  them and say 'Well, you weren ' t  t h e r e ,  Char l ie .  

was.' And you--as of ten  a s  no t ,  Dick, I sometimes wonder i f  they could have 

survived i t .  

M :  Yeah. 

S :  Yeah. 

?I: \ J e l l ,  thank you f o r  your time. 

S :  Well, t h a t  c7as fun. That was fun. 

I 
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